
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EUROCASH S.A. 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2005  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TRANSLATORS’ EXPLANATORY NOTE 
The following document is a free translation of the report of the above-mentioned Polish Company.  

In the event of any discrepancy in interpreting the terminology, the Polish version is binding. 
 
 
 

POZNAŃ, 4th April 2006 
 

 
 



 
 
CONTENTS 
 
 
I.  LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 
II. AUDITOR’S OPINION 
III. AUDITOR’S REPORT 
IV.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
V. REPORT OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 



Dear Shareholders, 
Dear Employees, 
Ladies and Gentlemen, 
 
I would like to use this opportunity to formally thank everyone who has been with us in the past 10 
years, i.e. since the inception of Eurocash. Especially I would like to thank our employees, because 
they have been creating the market success of Eurocash for the last 10 years.  
 
During 2005 we witnessed some important events, some of them were very significant for the 
company’s development. I believe that because of them we are better prepared to face the challenges 
which are created by a difficult and demanding market. Let us review together what has happened in 
Eurocash during 2005: 
 
February 2005:   Initial Public Offering and floating on the Warsaw Stock Exchange 
April 2005:  10th anniversary of the operations on the Polish market 
March-June 2005: integration with MHC 
August 2005: opening of 2,000th abc store  
November 2005: opening of new Distribution Center and Headquarters in Komorniki near 

Poznan 
December 2005: entering into a conditional agreement to purchase 100% of shares in KDWT - 

the second biggest tobacco and impulse products distributor in Poland.  
As a result of this transaction, the 2nd biggest (in terms of sales) FMCG (Fast 
Moving Consumer Goods) wholesaler in Poland has been created.   

 
Within the last year, our company became a public company and together with KDWT our yearly 
turnover exceeds USD 1 billion. We operate a modern distribution system with 94 Discount Cash & 
Carry stores and over 2100 abc shops. We became a different company to what we were one year 
ago. More importantly, we achieved this without negative impact on quality of our day-to-day work or 
on realization of our targets. 
 
I believe our company finishes this year in a much stronger position to face the tough years to come. 
Our clients know now that we will spare no effort to give them better prices and support them in the 
difficult fight against modern trade’s distribution chains of Discount stores and Hypermarkets. They 
know that we are fully concentrated on developing our business model around their needs and that we 
are a partner they can trust. 
 
Our employees feel that nothing will stop us being market leaders in FMCG wholesale market. They 
know we are a demanding company but always a fair one, that makes people accountable and 
strongly rewards results . 
 
To our shareholders would like to offer thanks for the support we had in our first year as a public 
company. I believe it was a great year for everyone and the enthusiasm showed by investors was for 
us an important motivation. We hope to be able to keep delivering good returns for the money invested 
in us. 
 
As a final word, I believe 2006 is going to be a tough and demanding year. On the one hand, we will 
have to integrate the acquisitions already made; on the other, the market is giving clear signs that 
competition is getting tougher and we have to keep improving our current operations to give always 
better prices and service to our clients. It will be a difficult year but we know exactly where we are 
going and what we want to achieve.  
 
So let’s do it. 
 
 
Yours Sincerely 
 
 
Luis Manuel Conceicao do Amaral  
President of the Management Board  
Eurocash S.A. 
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR'S OPINION

For the Shareholders of Eurocash Sp6lka Akcyjna

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eurocash Sp6lka Akcfna (the

Company) with its registered office in Poznan, ul. Wolczyriska 18, prepared in accordance

with the Intemational Accounting Standards/International Financial Reporting Standards,

comprising the following:

- the introduction to the financial statements,

- balance sheet as at December 3L,2005, with total assets of PLN 441941757 (n words:

forty four one million nine hundred forty one thousand seven hundred fifty seven),

- profit and loss account for the period from January 1,2005 to Decembet 31',2005, with a

net profit of PLN 32 5661.49 (n words: thirty two million five hundred sixty six

thousand one hundred fortY nine),

- statement of changes in equity, with a net increase in equity for the period from January

1,2005 to December 31-,2005 of PLN 33 743861(in words: thirty three million seven

hundred forty three thousand eight hundred sixty one),

- cash flow statement with a net cash inflow for the period from January 1,2005 to

December 31.,2005 of PLN 65129 856 (in words: sixty five million one hundred twenty

nine thousand eight hundred fifty six),

- additional notes and explanations.

The Management Board of the Company is responsible for the preparation and fair

presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the adopted accounting policy.

This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining intemal control

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements, selecting and

applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are

reasonable in the circumstances.
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our responsibility was to audit the accompanying financial statements and express an

opinion whether, based on our audit, these financial statements are, in all material respects'

true and fair and whether the accounting records that form the basis for their preparation

are, in all material respects properly maintained'

we conducted our audit of the accompanying financial statements in accordance with:

- provisions of chapter 7 of the Accounting Act of 29 septembet 1994 (uniform text:

JoumalofLawsof2002,No.T6, l tem6g4,wi th fur theramendments)( theAccount ing
Act),

- the auditing standards issued by the National Chamber of Statutory Auditors'

we planned and conducted our audit in order to obtain a reasonable assurance that the

audited financial statements are free from materiar misstatement. The audit was largely

based on a random examination of evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

included in the audited financial statements. The audit also included the assessment of the

accounting policies used by the Company and significant estimates made by the Company's

Management Board as well as an evaluation of the overall presentation of the financial

statements. we believe that our audit has provided a reasonable basis for expressing an

opinion on the financial statements'

In our opinion, the audited financial statements, including the figures and verbal

explanations:

- presents truly and fairly all information material for the assessment of the Company's

financial position as at Decemb er 31,2005 as well as its financial result for the financial

year from January 1,2005 to December 31''2005'

- were prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the accounting principles

(policy)specif iedinthelntemationalAccountingStandards,IntemationalFinancial

Reporting standards and the relevant interpretations published as regulations by the

European commission; in respect to matters not provided for in the standards - in

conformitywiththeAccountingActandtherelevantexecutiveregulationsandonthe

basis of the properly maintained books of account'

- comply with the laws affecting the content of the financial statements and the provisions

of the Company's articles of association'

Wi thoutqual i fy ingouropin iononthesef inancia ls tatements,wedrawat tent iontothe

following issue:

- the enclosed financial statements for the financial year ended on December 31' 2005 are

the first full financial statements prepared by the Company in accordance with

International Accounting Standards / Intemational Financial Reporting Standards

Eurocash S.A.
Page 2 of 3
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(IFRS). The Management Board provided for comparability with the information for the

preceding financial year that were disclosed for the first time in these financial

statements. In note 40 the Management Board of the Company presented a reconciliation

of equity in accordance with the Polish accounting standards applied earlier with equity

disclosed in accordance with IFRS as of the date of transfer to IFRS as well as a

reconciliation of equity as of the closing of the previous period and profit for the period

presented in the last financial statements, prepared in accordance with the Polish

accounting standards applied earlier.

We have read the Management Report on the Company's business operations for the period

from January 1,,2005 to December 31,2005.In our opinion the Report meets all material

requirements of Article 49 claus e 2 of the Accounting Act and of the Regulation of the

Minister of Finance of 19 October 2005 on the current and periodic reporting by issuers of

securities. Disclosures included in this Report, derived from the financial statements audited

bv us, are consistent with them.

Jan Letkiewicz

Statutory Auditor
No.9530/7106

Poznan, April 4,2006.

Cecylia Pol

President of the Management Board
HLB Fr4ckowiak i Wsp6h:ricy Sp6tka z o.o.,
Poznan, pl. Wiosny Lud6w 2,
Registered to audit financial statements by National Chamber

of Statutory Auditors; reg. No. 238.
Statutory Auditor No. 5282 / 782

Eurocash S.A Page 3 of 3
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1.. BACKGROUND

Eurocash S.A. (the Company) was established on July 30,2004 as a result of transformation

of a limited liability company. The Company was created for an unlimited period of time.

The registered office of the Company is located inPoznan, ul. Wolczyrlska 18.

The basic object of the Company's business is:

- wholesale of fruit and vegetables,

- wholesale of meat and meat products,

- wholesale of dairy products, eggs, oil and edible fats,

- wholesale of alcoholic beverages,

- wholesale of alcohol-free beverages,

- wholesale of tobacco products,

- wholesale of sugar, chocolate and confectionery,

- wholesale of tea, coffee, cocoa and seasonings,

- wholesale of fish, crustaceans and molluscs,

- wholesale of other food,

- not specialised wholesale of food, beverages and tobacco products,

- wholesale of metal products, china, ceramics, glass for use in households, of wallpaper

and cleaning agents,

- wholesale of perfume and cosmetics,

- wholesale of other products for household and personal use,

- wholesale of chemical products,

- other, unspecialised wholesale.

The Company was registered into entrepreneur's register of the National Court Register kept

by District Court in Pozna{ XXI Economic Division of the National Court Register No' KRS

0000213765 granted on July 30,2004.

The Company has a Tax Identification Number NIP 779-19-06-082 granted on August 5,2004

and a statistical identification number REGON 631.008941granted on October 7,2004.

Eurocash S.A. s / l s
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The share capital of the Company as at the balance sheet date, i.e. December 3L, 2005, was

PLN 127,742 thousand. The Company's equity as at that date was PLN 175,749 thousand.

As at December 31, 2005, the ownership structure of the Company's share capital was as

follows:

In the period from January 1,,2005 to December 31.,2005 and after the balance sheet date,

until the date of the issuing of this report the following changes in the ownership structure of

the Company's share capital took place (changes of shareholders who have at least 5% of

votes at the General Meeting of Shareholders):

- On January 28, 2005, the Management Board of the Warsaw Stock Exchange made a

decision to admit to public trading on the primary market 127,742,000 series A bearer

shares of the company of nominal value PLN 1 each share. Bank Austria Creditanstalt

AG, with its seat at Vordere Zollamtsstrasse 13, Vienna, Austria, on February 3,2005

held in its securities account with Bank BPH S.A. 22,170,980 shares of Eurocash S.A.,

which represented 17.36% of its share capital and entitled to 22,170,980 votes at

Shareholders' Meetings.

- Amplico Life Pierwsze Amerykarisko Polskie Towarzystwo Ubezpieczeri na Zycie i

Reasekuracji Sp6lka Akcyjna disclosed that in effect of entries made on February 9,2005

in the securities account of its shareholder - American Life Insurance and Reinsurance

Company (ALICO), it held 7,341,78'1. shares of the Company, representingS.T5% of share

capital of Eurocash S.A. and entitling to 7,341.,781 shares at Shareholders' Meetings.

- AIG Powszechne Towarzystwo Emerytalne S.A. disclosed that AIG Otwarty Fundusz

Emerytalny (AIG OFE) on February 'J.6,2005 held 6,400,000 shares of Eurocash S.A.,

representing 5.01% of share capital of the Company, entitling to 6,400,000 shares at

Shareholders' Meetings.

- In effect of transactions of October 20,2005, subsidiaries of J.P. Morgan Chase & Co,

London, jointly held 6,579,041 shares of Eurocash S.A., representing 5.1'5% of share

capital of the Company, entitling to 6,579,041 votes at Shareholders' Meetings.

Shareholder who has at least 5% of
votes at the General Meeting of

Shareholders:

Number
of shares

Number
of votes

Face value
of shares

% of equity

Luis Manuel Conceicao do Amaral
(directly and indirectly via Politra

B.V. )

70.258.100 70.258.100 70.258,1 55,00%

J.P. Morgan Chase & Co 6.579.041 6.579.041 6.579,0 5 ) 5 %

AIG Opened Pension Fund 6.400.000 6.400.000 6.400,0 5,01.%

Total above mentioned Shareholders 83.237.141 83.237.r41 83.237,'�l 65,16%

Total t27.742.000 127.742.000 r27.742,0 100,00%

Eurocash S.A. 6 / 1 5
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On March 14,2006, J.P. Morgan Chase & Co, London announced the sale of shares in

Eurocash S.A. After the sale transaction, subsidiaries of J.P. Morgan Chase & Co

decreased their holdin g to 6,310,593 shares, representing exactly 4.94% of share capital of

the Company, entitlingto 6,31.0,593 votes at Shareholders' Meetings.

As at April 4,2006 the Company's Management Board consisted of:

- Luis Manuel Conceicao Do Amaral - President of the Management Board,

- Pedro Martinho - Member of the Management Board,

- Ryszard Majer - Member of the Management Board,

- Katarzyna Kopaczewska - Member of the Management Board,

- Arnaldo Guerreiro - Member of the Management Board,

- Rui Amaral - Member of the Management Board.

During the period from January 1,2005 to April 4,2006 the Company's Management Board

did not change.

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PREVIOUS YEAR

The financial statements for the financial year ended on December 31,2005 are the first full

financial statements prepared by the Company in accordance with Intemational Accounting

Standards / Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Management Board

provided for comparability with the information for the preceding financial year that were

disclosed for the first time in these financial statements. In note 41 the Management Board of

the Company presented a reconciliation of equity in accordance with the Polish accounting

standards applied earlier with equity disclosed in accordance with IFRS as of the date of

transfer to IFRS as well as a reconciliation of equity as of the closing of the previous period

and profit for the period presented in the last financial statements, prepared in accordance

with the Polish accounting standards applied earlier.

The Company's financial statements for the financial year ended December 3'l', 2004

(previous financial year) were audited by HLB Fr4ckowiak i Wsp6lnicy Sp. z o.o., on behalf

of which acted a statutory auditor jan Letkiewicz No. 9530/71,06. The auditor issued an

unqualified opinion on the audited financial statements.

The Company's financial statements for the financial year ended December 31', 2004 wete

approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders on April 11, 2005. Company's

Eurocash S.A. 7  / 1 5
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Shareholders adopted a resolution that the 2004 net profit of PLN

distributed as follows:

- reserve capital

-  coverageofpreviousyears' losses

20,619 thousand will be

PLN L4,263 thousand,

PLN 6,356 thousand.

The Company's financial statements for the financial year ended Decembet 31', 2004

(previous financial year) together with a statutory auditor's opinion, resolutions of the

General Meeting of Shareholders on the approval of the financial statements and on

distribution of profit as well as the Management Report on the Company's business

operations were submitted on June 8, 2005 in the National Court Register'

The introduction to the financial statements, the balance sheet as at December 3L,2004, the

profit and loss account, the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for

the financial year ended December 31., 2004 (previous financial year) together with the

opinion of a statutory auditor, resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders on the

approval of the financial statements and on the distribution of profit were on May 24,2005

published in Monitor Polski B number 857.

3. INFORMATION ABOUT THE AUDITOR

HLB FrEckowiak i Wsp6lnicy Sp. z o.o. with its registered office in Poznari, pI. Wiosny

Lud6w 2 is an entity authorised to audit financial statements, entered on the list of the

National Council of Statutory Auditors in Poland under No. 238.

On behalf of HLB Fr4ckowiak i Wsp6lnicy Sp. z o.o. the audit of the financial statements was

headed by a statutory auditor Jan Letkiewicz, reg. number 9530/7106.

HLB Fr4ckowiak i Wsp6lnicy Sp. z o.o. was appointed to audit the Company's financial

statements for the financial year ended December 3L,2005 by Supervisory Board on April29,

2005. We have audited these financial statements pursuant to the contract concluded with

the Company's Management Board on May 31',2005.

4. THE SCOPE AND DATE OF THE AUDIT

The purpose of our audit was to express a written opinion, together with a report, whether

the financial statements for the financial year ended December 31.,2005 are, in all material

respects, true and fair in accordance with the accounting principles (policy) specified in the

Intemational Accounting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the

relevant interpretations published as regulations by the European Commission; in respect to

Etuocash S.A 8 / 1 5
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matters not provided for in the standards - in conformity with the Accounting Act and the
relevant executive regulations.

In our audit of financial statements and the books of account we used tests and samples that

are adequate for the financial audit. We assessed the correctness of the audited items based
on those tests and samples. Our audit was limited to selected samples also in respect of tax
settlements, therefore differences may occur between our findings and the results of any
potential inspections of authorised tax authorities.

We have not aimed our audit to determine and explain any events that might be - should
they occur - a basis for the institution of criminal proceedings by the competent authorities.
AIso, the audit did not cover other issues that might have occurred outside the Company's
accounting system and which do not influence the audited financial statements.

We conducted our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 3'1.,2005
from December 1,2005 to April 4,2006 including the fieldwork in the registered office of the
Company from December 1,, 2005 to Decemb er 2, 2005, from January 23, 2006 to lanuary 27,
2006 and from February 6,2006 to Februarv 8,2006.

5. INDEPENDENCEDECLARATION

HLB Fr4ckowiak i Wsp6lnicy Sp." o.o. and the statutory auditor managing the audit meet
the conditions specified in Article 66 clause 2 and 3 of the Accounting Act to express an
independent opinion on the audited financial statements of the Company.

6. AVAILABILITY OF DATA AND STATEMENTS RECEIVED

During the audit the Company's Management Board made available to us all books of
account, financial data, information, other required documents and provided explanations
necessary to issue an opinion on the financial statements audited.

On April 4, 2006 the Company's Management Board provided us with a written
representation on the completeness, fairness and accuracy of the audited financial statements
and that between the balance sheet date and the date of audit completion no events occurred
that might materially impact the assets and the financial position of the Company and which
would need to be included in the audited financial statements. The Company's Management
Board confirmed its responsibility for the audited financial statements.

Eurocash S.A. 9 / 1 5
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7, ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

The Company's books of account are kept with the use of a computer system SAP R/3 and

Ferrodo in the Company's registered office. The Company has a documentation referred to

in Article 10 of the Accounting Act, including the accounting policy (principles). ln our

opinion, the accounting policy (principles) of the Company disclosed in the introduction to

the financial statements adequately reflects the nature of its business.

The approved closing balances as at December 3L, 2004 were properly entered in the books

of account as the opening balances as at January 1',2005.

Our audit did not reveal any material weaknesses which could influence the financial data

and information in the audited financial statements and which concern:

- documenting of business transactions,

- faimess, correctness and verifiability of books of account,

- links between book entries and accounting documents as well as the audited financial

statements,

- methods of safeguarding the access to the data and the system of processing the data

with the use of a computer,

- safeguarding of the accounting documentation, books of account and financial

statements.

During the financial year, the Company carried out an count of significant assets and

liabilities in compliance with the rules defined by the Accounting Act. Results of that

inventory count were settled and recognised in the books of account for the financial year

ended December 31, 2005.

Eurocash S.A r 0 / 7 5
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8. PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

9. BALANCE SHEET

REVENUES AND COSTS (in PLN'000) 2005 2004

1. Net sales 1 687 r37 | 526 532

2. Operating expenses r 456 655 r 328 498

3. Gross profiUloss on sales 230 482 198 034

4. Cost of sales t24 403 110 395

5. Cost of general management 54894 44194

6. ProfiUloss on operating activity s1 185 43 445

7. Other operating income 4 708 1 584

8. Other operating exPenses 1 1a A 1 13 834

9. Profi t / loss on operating activi ty 44 652 31 195

10. Financial revenues Z JZJ 4248

11. Financial expenses 5 491 7 933

12. Profit/loss on business activitv 41.683 27 510

L3. Income tax expense 9 l r7 5 369

14. Net profit/loss 32566 22t47

ASSETS (in PLN'000) 31.12.2005 31.12.2004

A. FIXED ASSETS 180 607 178 557

1. Intaneible f ixed assets 110  819 108 283

2. Tangible fixed assets 67 733 68 511

3. Lonq-term receivables 556 189

4. Long-term deferred items 1 500 | 575

B. CURRENT ASSETS 267 334 188 582

l . l nventor ies 120 261 t12 28r

2. Short-term receivables 39 596 41186

3. Short-term investments 99 045 33 915

4. Prepaid expenses z +3J | 200

TOTAL ASSETS: 44L942 367 139

LIABILITIES (in PLN'000) 31.12.2005 37.12.2004

A. EQUITY 175 749 74265s

1. Share capital t27 742 t27 742

L Supplementary capital t4 782 1

1. Profi t / loss of prior years 659 -7 219

1. Profit/loss of the current year 32566 22 r4l

B. LIABILITIES 266192 224 475

L. Lons-term liabilities 4 670 3 263

2. Short-term liabilities zoL Jzz 2212t2

TOTAL LIABILITIES: 441.942 367 139

Eurocash S.A t t / r S
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10. INFORMATION ABOUT CERTAIN ITEMS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The structure of assets and liabilities in the Company's balance sheet is presented in the

audited financial statements for the financial year ended December 31,2005.

The financial statements for the financial year ended on December 31',2005 are the first full

financial statements prepared by the Company in accordance with IFRS. The Management

Board provided for comparability with the information for the preceding financial year that

were disclosed for the first time in these financial statements. In note 4L the Management

Board of the Company presented a reconciliation of equity in accordance with the Polish

accounting standards applied earlier with equity disclosed in accordance with IFRS as of the

date of transfer to IFRS as well as a reconciliation of equity as of the closing of the previous

period and profit for the period presented in the last financial statements, prepared in

accordance with the Polish accounting standards appiied earlier. Information presented in

charts above, concerning financial year 2004, is completely adjusted.

As of December 31.,2005, intangible fixed assets accounted for 25oh of the Company's assets.

The position consists of purchased and used trade marks "Eurocash", " ABC" and "MHC",

know-how and computer software licences. In connection with the fact that the financial

statements were prepared for the first time in accordance with IFRS, the Company identified

assets, that in the opinion of the Management Board, had an indefinite usefui lives.

The value of tangible fixed assets as of 31.12.2005 accotmted for 1'5.3o/" of total assets.

As of December 31.,2005, the Company performed an analysis with respect to the intangibles

and fixed assets if there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. The analysis did not

show any need to make tests for impairment.

With reference to assets with indefinite useful lives, the Company made mandatory tests for

impairment. The test did not show any need to make any reductions in book value of these

assets.

The latest counting of fixed assets was conducted by the Company on December 31',2002.

Pursuant to the Accounting Act the Company makes physical count of fixed assets every

four years.

Physical count of goods is performed by the Company on an ongoing basis - at each

warehouse in the distribution centre and wholesale outlets physical count is performed at

least once in two years. Differences between stocks evidenced in books of accounts and

physical count have been clarified and accounted for in the books of account in the year

when the physical count was performed.

Eurocash S.A 1 2 / 1 5
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8. PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

9. BALANCE SHEET

REVENUES AND COSTS (in PLN'000) 2005 2004

1. Net sales r 687 137 L 526532
2. Operating expenses 1.456 655 r 328 498
3. Gross profiUloss on sales 230 482 198 034
4. Cost of sales 124 403 110 395
5. Cost of general management 54894 44 t94
6. ProfiVloss on operating activi ty 51 185 43 445
7. Other operating income 4 708 1 584
8. Other operating expenses tt241 13 834
9. Profit/loss on operating activity 44 552 31,195
10. Financial revenues 2 523 4248

11. Financial expenses 5 491 7 933
L2. ProfiVloss on business activity 4't 683 27 5\0

13, Income tax expense 9 t17 5 369
r4.Net profit/loss 32566 22141

ASSETS (in PLN'000) 37.72.2005 37.12.200il

A. FIXED ASSETS 180 607 178 557
1. Intangible fixed assets 1  10  819 108 283
2. Tangible fixed assets 67 733 68 511
3. Long-term receivables 556 189
4. Long-term deferred i tems 1 500 | 575

B. CURRENT ASSETS 261,334 188 582
l . Inventories 120261 rr2281
2. Short-term receivables 39 596 41 186
3. Short-term investments 99 045 33 915
4. Prepaid expenses Z  + J J I 200

TOTAL ASSETS: 441,942 367 739

LIABILITIES (in PLN'000) 31.12.2005 37.72.2004

A. EQUITY t75 749 1,42 665
1. Share capital t27 742 t27 742
1.  Supp lementary  cap i ta l t4782 I

1.  Pro f i t / loss  o f  p r io r  years 659 -7 2t9
1. Profit/loss of the currenr year 32566 22741

B. LIABILITIES 266192 224 475
1. Long-term liabilities 4 670 3263
2. Short-term liabilities zo L 5zz 227 212

TOTAL LIABILITIES: 441,942 367 139

Eurocash S.A. 1,L / 15
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The largest item among short-term receivables were trade receivables, accounting for 93.2%

of all short-term receivables as of the balance sheet date. The gross value of trade receivables

as of December 31.,2005 was PLN 37,876.0 thousand. The balance sheet discloses the trade

receivables in net value, i.e. net of revaluation write-downs of PLN 986.2 thousand. An

analysis of repayments after the balance sheet date and collection activities of the Company

did not indicate any need to create additional write-downs.

Among short-term liabilities, trade payables accounted for 90.6% of the balance sheet value.

We conducted a procedure of an independent confirmation of trade payables as at December

31.,2005. Differences between confirmations obtained and balances reported in the books of

account were explained and adjusted by the Company accordingly. Up to the date of the

completion of our audit the Company paid 88% of trade payables outstanding on the balance

sheet date.

Revenues and related costs were included in the books on accrual basis.

11. BASIC FINANCIAL DATA AND RATIOS

Selected financial data and ratios for 2004 and 2005 that demonstrate the financial position of

the Company during that period are presented below. We calculated all ratios on the basis of

the data included in the Company's financial statements for the years ended December 31,

2005 and December 31..2004.

Ratio
Calculation

fonnula

Ratio Value

2005 20M.

sales (PLN thousands) r 687 137 1526532

net profit/loss (PLN thousands) 32566 22141

equity (PLN thousands) 175 749 t42665

total assets (PLN thousands) 44r 942 367 1.39

return on assets (ROA) (%) net profit (loss) / total assets at the end of the period 7,37 6,03

return on equity (ROE) (%) net profit (loss) / equity at the beginning of the perioc ) t  R7

return on sales (%) result on sales / sales of products and merchandise 3,03 2,85

liquidity ratio I total current assets* / short-term liabilities* 1,00 0,85

liquidity ratio III cash / short-term liabilities* 0,38 0,15
receivables turnover ratio (in

davs)
trade receivables** x 365 days / sales of products and

merchandise
8 10

repayment of payables (in days)
trade payables x 365 days / (value of merchandise and

materials sold + cost of products sold)
59 56

inventory turnover (in days)
inventories x 365 days / (value ofgoods for resale anc

materials sold + cost of products sold)
30 31

stability of financing
(equity + long-term provisions + long-term liabilities)

/ total liabilities and equity
0,41 0,40

Eurocash S.A. 1,3 / rs
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debt rat io (%)
(total liabilities and equity - eqoity) / totut liabilities

and eouitv
60,237" 6l 1  A O /

t +  / o

inflation rates:

annual average (%) 2,1

December to December (%) 0,7 4 4

" excluding trade receivables/payables of more than 12 months
** before write-downs

12. CONTINUATION AS A GOING CONCERN

In note 1.6 of the introduction to the Company's audited financial statements for the year

ended December 31.,2005 the Management Board stated that these financial statements were

prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern for not

less than 12 months from December 31.,2005 and that there are no circumstances indicating

any threat to the Company's ability to continue as a going concem.

In the course of our examination we found no material circumstances that could produce a

conviction that the Company was not able to continue its activity for at least 12 months from

the balance sheet date, that is from December 31, 2005 in effect of intended or forced

discontinuation or maior restriction of its business.

13. ADDITIONAL NOTES

The additional information and explanation to the financial statements for the financial year

ended on December 31,2005 were prepared in all material aspects in accordance with the

accounting principles (policy) specified in the International Accounting Standards,

Intemational Financial Reporting Standards and the relevant interpretations published as

regulations by the European Commission; in respect to matters not provided for in the

Standards - in conformity with the Accounting Act and the relevant executive regulations.

1.4. REPORT ON THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS OPERATIONS

We have reviewed the report of the Management Board from the activity of the Company in

the financial year ended on December 31.,2005. The information contained in the report from

the activity, deriving from the financial statements for the financial year ended on December

31,2005 examined by us is compliant with it. The report from the activity of the company in

material aspects meets the requirements of art. 49.2 of the Accounting Act and provisions of

the Regulation of the Minister of Finance of October 19,2005 on current and periodical

disclosure made by issuers of securities.

Eurocash S.A. 1 4 / 7 5
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15. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

In a written statement received by us the Management Board confirmed that to the best of its

knowledge the Company complied with all laws whose violation could materially impact

the financial statements audited by us.

].6. USING THE WORK OF EXPERTS

During the audit of the Company's

December 31.,2005 we used the results

provision on employee benefits.

This report contains 15 pages.

Tan Letkiewicz

Statutory Auditor
No.9530/7106

financial statements for the financial year ended

of the work of the independent expert in the area of

Cecylia Pol

President of the Management Board
HLB Fr4ckowiak i Wsp6hricy Sp. z o.o.,
Poznaft, pl. Wiosny Lud5w 2,
Registered to audit financial statements by National
Chamber of Statutory Auditors; reg. No. 238.
Statutory Auditor No. 5282 / 782

Eurocash S.A.
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY 

1.1. COMPANY NAME 

EUROCASH Spółka Akcyjna 

1.2. REGISTERED OFFICE 

ul. Wołczyńska 18, 60-003 Poznań 

1.3. CORE BUSINESS 

Other wholesale (PKD 5190 Z) 

1.4. REGISTRY COURT 

District Court of Poznań XXI Commercial Division of the National Court Register, 
Entry no KRS 00000213765 

1.5. DURATION OF THE COMPANY 

Indefinite 

1.6. PERIOD COVERED BY THE FINANACIAL STATEMENTS 

The reporting period 1st January2005 - 31st December 2005 and comparable periods: 1st 
January 2004 – 31st December 2004 

2. COMPANY’S GOVERNING BODIES 

2.1. MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Luis Manuel Conceicao Do Amaral – President of the Management Board, 
Rui Amaral – Management Board Member, 
Arnaldo Guerreiro – Management Board Member, 
Pedro Martinho – Management Board Member,  
Katarzyna Kopaczewska – Management Board Member, 
Ryszard Majer – Management Board Member. 

2.2. SUPERVISORY BOARD 

João Borges de Assunção – Chairman, 
Eduardo Aguinaga de Moraes – Supervisory Board Member, 
Geoffrey Francis Eric Crossley - Supervisory Board Member, 
Ryszard Wojnowski – Supervisory Board Member, 
Janusz Lisowski – Supervisory Board Member. 

2.3. CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION OF THE MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY 
BOARDS 

During the reporting period, there were no changes in the composition of the Management 
Board. 
 
On 11th April 2005, the Ordinary General Meeting approved of the resignation of Mr. 
Ronaldo Coelho de Magalhaes and Mr. Antonio Jose Santos Silva Casanova from the 
positions of Members of the Supervisory Board and appointed Mr. Ryszard Wojnowski and 
Mr. Janusz Lisowski as Members of the Supervisory Board.  
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GIVEN FINANCIAL DATA 

Operating profit (loss)
Profit (loss) before tax
Net Profit (loss) on continued operations

1 526 531 924
44 651 738 31 194 908
41 683 191 27 509 769
32 566 148 22 140 651

for the period

PLN

1 687 137 016Net sales

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

Net profit (loss) 32 566 148 22 140 651 8 094 387

Net operating cash flow 91 171 823 29 146 959 22 660 956

Net investment cash flow (24 315 936) (69 708 464) (6 043 779)
Net financial cash flow (1 726 031) (28 894 822) (429 009)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 65 129 856 (69 456 327) 16 188 168

128 749 504 134 129 100
Weighted average number of shares 127 742 000

Assets 441 941 757 367 139 316 114 498 616
Long-term liabilities 4 670 131 3 263 054 1 209 941
Short-term liabilities 261 522 193 221 211 706 67 755 374
Equity 175 749 433 142 664 556 45 533 300
Share capital 127 742 000 127 742 000 33 095 497

Number of shares 127 742 000 127 742 000 127 742 000

as at as at as at as at

Book value per share (in PLN / EUR) 1,38 1,12 0,36

PLN PLN EUR

8 094 387

4,0233

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004  31.12.2005

Diluted EPS (in PLN / EUR) 0,24

Weighted average diluted number of shares 134 129 100

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

0,27

128 749 504

0,17

 31.12.2004

127 742 000

34 975 375
31 316 989

Diluted book value per share (in PLN / EUR) 1,31 1,06 0,34

-

for the period for the period

EUR

0,26

799 964
54 231 847

90 007 187

(6 395 207)

for the period

PLN

PLN / EUR rate at the end of the period**

126 859 622

EPS
(in PLN / EUR) 0,25 0,17

Declared or paid dividend per share (in PLN / EUR)

SELECTED FIGURES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

EUR

(15 372 566)

6 088 657
4 900 326

(15 428 371)

4 900 326

6 451 011

11 098 287 6 904 278
10 360 448

0,06 0,04

3,8598 4,0790

-- -

4,5182Average PLN / EUR rate*

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

127 742 000 126 859 622

0,06 0,04

EUR

419 341 589 337 862 849

 
* -  The profit and loss account items were calculated in accordance with an exchange rate being an arithmetical 

mean of average exchange rates announced by the National Bank of Poland, as at the last day of each 
month. 

** -  Balance-sheet items and the book value per one share was calculated in accordance with an average 
exchange rate announced by the National Bank of Poland, as at the balance-sheet date. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Net sales of traded goods

Other operating revenues 28

Costs of sold materials

Net sales of materials
Prime costs of sales

Net sales of services

- basic

from continued operations

from continued and discontinued operations

- diluted

Net profit (loss) on continued operations

PLN / share

Net loss on discontinued operations

Discontinued operations

Net profit (loss) 32 566 148

Weighted average diluted number of shares
Weighted average number of shares

- basic
- diluted

Income tax

Other operating costs

29 (5 491 153)
Financial revenues

Other profit (loss) on investments

(11 240 638)
-Share in profits of companies consolidated with the equity method
-

1 640 908 755

4 707 550

27
27 (54 894 032)

(124 402 701)

Net sales

-

46 228 261 30 387 810

(1 456 655 458) (1 328 498 039)
-

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 (functional classification)

Note

26

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

for the period

1 687 137 016

29
Financial costs

28

Costs of restructuring
Operating profit (loss)

32 566 148 22 140 651

PLN / share

-

32 566 148

-

22 140 651

-
31 194 908

(110 394 893)

-

44 651 738

(1 456 655 458)

230 481 558
-

4 247 527

22 140 651

(7 932 666)

(9 117 043) (5 369 118)

- -
41 683 191 27 509 769

2 522 606

Costs of sold services

-

(44 194 464)

(13 834 012)
1 584 393

198 033 884
-

(1 328 498 039)
Costs of sold traded goods

31

31

Note

31

NET EARNINGS PER SHARE

22 140 651

126 859 622
134 129 100 128 749 504

32 566 148

127 742 000

0,17
0,24 0,17
0,25

0,17
0,17

0,24
0,25

for the period

Profit (loss) on sales 51 184 825 43 444 527

1 526 531 924
1 496 144 114

-

Continued operations

31

Profit (loss) before tax

Gross profit (loss) on sales
Costs of sales
Costs of general management

23, 24

Net profit (loss) on continued operations

Net profit (loss) on continued and discontinued operations
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Inventories

Other short-term financial assets

6
8Long-term financial assets available for sale

Investments in associated companies consolidated with the equity method

Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Investment real property

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 

5

Note

3

Short-term financial assets held for trade

8

10
12

9

25

Other long-term financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets
Fixed assets classified as held for sale
Short-term prepayments 13

as at as at

-

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

180 607 408 178 557 491
110 819 059

Assets

2
Fixed assets (long-term)

120 260 552
188 581 826
112 280 762

-
555 759

396 256
1 399 289

-
189 159

367 139 316

33 914 908

-

-
-
-

99 044 764
-
-

-
2 706 467

Short-term financial assets available for sale

-
441 941 757

Other short-term receivables
-

1 574 958

1 053 743
Current income tax receivables
Trade receivables

12

175 670

261 334 348

36 889 803

Current assets (short-term)

Long-term receivables

Other long-term prepayments

Long-term prepayments

2 432 762 1 199 669

-

-
-

67 732 878
-

-
-

24

40 132 743

Deferred income tax assets
1 499 712
1 103 455

108 282 640
68 510 733
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Provision for employee benefits 356 753

Total liabilities
Liabilities due to fixed assets held for sale

-
1 743 252

19

Trade liabilities 18
21

236 854 087
Other short-term financial liabilities

202 377 121

Other long-term provisions - -
Short-term liabilities 261 522 193 221 211 706

Short-term loans and credits -

-
Other long-term liabilities - -
Deferred income tax provision

1 106 272

- -

-
-

-

441 941 757 367 139 316

- 500 687
8 141 837 6 999 122

14 783 017 10 228 505

--

4 313 378 3 263 054

266 192 324 224 474 760
4 670 131 3 263 054

-

33 225 131 14 921 977

- -
- -

- -

579
127 742 000 127 742 000

14 782 302

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

175 749 433 142 664 556
Share capital 14

Equity

Short-term provisions 17

Current income tax liabilities 18
Other short-term liabilities 18

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31DECEMBER 2005 (continued)

as at
Note

658 983 (7 218 674)

as at

Liabilities

Hedge transactions valuation capital
Capital reserve

Fixed assets held for sale recognised in equity

Treasury shares/equities

Long-term loans and credits 19

Retained earnings
Profit (loss) of prior years

Liabilities
Long-term liabilities

Supplementary capital 15

Net profit (loss) of the current year 32 566 148 22 140 651

Other long-term financial liabilities 20, 21

24
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(24 315 936)

2 614 536
274 029

(4 754 640) (4 790 695)

38 983 330
371 780 5 681 512

(2 543 168)

(1 841 868)

159 609265 470

29 146 959

(11 308 606)

91 171 823

(16 890 823)
(746 466)

(5 045 677)

2 600 114 284

98 469 630

(58 962 239)

48 050 543

6 193 641

Adjustments:
Depreciation
Impairment allowance on tangible fixed assets

Costs of interest

-

- -

71 576 897

(27 922 512)
(1 414 184) (762 802)

(15 301 486) (14 641 555)

-

(69 708 464)
-

3 621 437
-

-
370 919

-
2 212 996

-

Interest received

29 893 706
25 553 626

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

27 509 769

20 540 774
17 597 652

Interest paid

Receipts from sold intangible fixed assets

Note

41 683 191

for the period for the period

Operating cash flow

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 30 DECEMBER 2005 (indirect method)

Net profit before tax

(Profit) loss on sold tangible fixed assets

Profit (loss) on investment real property valuation at fair value

(Profit) loss on sold financial assets available for sale

2 026 086

-
-

Change due to exchange gains (loss) -

65 129 856 (69 456 327)

(28 894 822)

103 371 236

Net financing cash (1 726 031)

Income tax paid

Expenditures for purchased tangible fixed assets
Receipts from sold tangible fixed assets

Investment cash flow

Expenditures for purchased intangible fixed assets

Repaid liabilities under financial lease

Operating cash before changes in working capital

Changes in stocks

Changes in provisions and accruals

Net operating cash

Repaid loans and credits

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

-
33 914 90899 044 764

33 914 908Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

(3 621 437)

Net investment cash
Dividends received

Financing cash flow

Receipts due to taking loans and credits

Operating cash

Interest received (2 026 086)

Other adjustments

(Profit) loss on changes in fair value of financial assets recorded at fair value -

Changes in receivables
Changes in liabilities

4 153 169

(7 979 790)
1 223 616

35 118 995

-

Interest (311 847) (209 508)
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Issued options convertible into shares
Balance as at 31 December 2004

Balance as at 01 January 2005
Changes in the principles (policy) of accounting

Balance upon changes

Issued share capital
Dividends

Net profit for the period from 1 January to 31 December 
2004

Total profit and loss recorded in the period from 1 
January to 31 December 2004 

142 005 572
-
579 14 921 977 142 664 556

658 983 658 983

5 853 357
-
579 14 921 977 142 664 556

- -
357 -

-
22 140 651 22 140 651

222

114 670 548

- (862 193)

222 (7 218 674)
(55 277) (55 277)

(6 301 204) 115 588 018

127 742 000

127 742 000
-

127 742 000

-

121 889 000

-

Supplementary 
capital

-
5 853 000

Balance as at 1 January 2005
Changes in the principles (policy) of accounting

Net profit presented directly in equity

STATEMENT ON CHANGES IN EQUITY IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

Note

Changes in equity in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2005

Balance upon changes

Total
Retained 
earnings

121 889 000

- -

-

- - - -

- 22 140 651 22 140 651

579 14 262 994

- -

Corrections of basic mistakes - -

Share capital

(862 193)

 
 
 



Financial statements of  EUROCASH S.A. (TRANSLATION ONLY) 

Financial statements period: 01.01-31.12.2005 Reporting currency: Polish zloty (PLN) 

Level of round-offs: All amounts are expressed in Polish zloty  (unless indicated otherwise) 

 

 10/78

Issued options convertible into shares
Balance as at 31 December 2005 

p p y
2005

Total profit and loss recorded in the period from 1 
January to 31 December 2005

Revaluation profit (loss)

Changes in equity in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2005

BREAKDOWN OF CHANGES IN EQUITY IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 (continued)

Note Share capital

518 729
14 782 302 33 225 131 175 749 433

- 518 729

14 262 994

14 262 994 18 303 154 32 566 148

18 303 154 32 566 148

-
- -

-
127 742 000

-

Investments available for sale - -

127 742 000

- valuation profit recognised in equity - -
- -
- -

- transferred to profit (loss) on sale - -

Cash flow hedging instruments: - -
- -
- -

- profit (loss) recognised in equity - -

- -
- profit (loss) transferred to the financial result of the 
period - -

- profit (loss) accounted for in balance sheet valuation 
of hedged items - -

Exchange gains (loss) on valuation of companies 
operating abroad - -

Tax connected with items recognised in equity or 
transferred from equity - -
Net profit presented directly in equity - - - -

- -

- -

- -

14 262 994

Total
Supplementary 

capital
Retained 
earnings

142 005 572
Changes in the principles (policy) of accounting - - 658 983 658 983

Balance as at 01 January 2005 579

14 921 977 142 664 556Balance upon changes 127 742 000 579
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION TO THE COMPANY’S FIANACIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD 
FROM 01.01.2005 TO 31.12.2005  

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1. DISCLOSURE OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

By the resolution of the Management Board dated April 4 2006 year, the financial 
statements of Eurocash S.A. for the period from 1st January 2005 to 31st December 2005 
have been approved for disclosure.  
Eurocash is a joint-stock company whose shares are publicly traded.  

1.2. DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY 

As at 1st January 2005 the Company decided to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with International Accounting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and related to these interpretations announced in the form of orders of the 
European Commission. 
The here-enclosed financial statements were drawn up pursuant to the IFRS no. 1 
concerning the appliance of the International Financial Reporting Standards for the first time. 

1.3. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUNDS FOR PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS, REPORTING CURRENCY AND APPLIED LEVEL OF ROUND – OFFS  

EUROCASH Spółka Akcyjna financial statements were prepared for the first time in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards. Disclosures required under 
the International Financial Reporting Standard no 1 „First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards” and concerning the transition from by-laws  currently in force 
to international standards were presented in Note no 39 and Note no 40.  
 
Reporting currency of the financial statements is Polish zloty and all figures are rounded off 
to full zloty (unless indicated otherwise).  

1.4. COMPARISON OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

To ensure comparability, data for comparable periods contained in the financial statements, 
was restated in accordance with the accounting policies effective since 1st January 2005. 
For the explanation of differences in relation to the previously disclosed statements, see 
supplementary Note no 41.  

1.5. INFORMATION ON THE PARENT ENTITY AND CAPITAL GROUP  

The Company has no entities (branches) preparing separate financial statements.  
The Company is not a parent entity and does not prepare consolidated financial statements.  
On 15th December 2005 the Company entered into a conditional agreement on acquisition of 
100% of shares of KDWT S.A. Considering the fact that until the balance-sheet date all 
conditions precedent for the agreement were not fulfilled and Eurocash S.A. did not directly 
or indirectly control the company, understood as the ability to manage the financial and 
operational policies of the entity in order to gain economic profits from its activity, Eurocash 
did not  prepare consolidated financial statements. The above-mentioned agreement was 
described in detail in Note no 37.  

1.6. ACTIVITY CONTINUATION 

The statements were prepared with the assumption of continuation of business activity in the 
foreseeable future – there are no circumstances indicating any risk of continuation of the 
activity.  



Financial statements of  EUROCASH S.A. (TRANSLATION ONLY) 

Financial statements period: 01.01-31.12.2005 Reporting currency: Polish zloty (PLN) 

Level of round-offs: All amounts are expressed in Polish zloty  (unless indicated otherwise) 

 

 12/78

2. APPLIED ACCOUNTING RULES 

2.1. ACCOUNTING RULES 

Financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost concept, with the 
exception of valuation of certain tangible and financial assets which, pursuant to IFRS, are 
valued by fair value. 
The most significant accounting rules applied by the Company were presented in points 2.2 
– 2.25. 

2.2. FINANCIAL YEAR AND REPORTING PERIOD  

The financial year of Eurocash S.A. is a calendar year. 
The reporting period is a month.  

2.3. MAINTAINANCE OF ACCOUNTING BOOKS  

The accounting books are maintained in the Polish language and Polish currency.  
The accounting books are kept at the Company’s office located at ul. Wiśniowa 11 in 
Komorniki, near Poznań. 

2.4. FORMAT AND CONTENTS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements are prepared as for the date of closing of accounting books or as 
for any other balance-sheet date.  
 
The statements include in particular:  
 General information 
 Profit and loss account 
 Balance -sheet 
 Cash flow statement 
 Statement of changes in equity 
 Supplementary information 
 Notes 

2.5. INTANGIBLE  ASSETS 

Definition 
Intangible assets include economic rights acquired by the Company for use of the entity's 
own purposes, which are economically usable and their useful economic life is longer than 
one year.  
 
The Company’s intangible assets include:  
 Licenses on computer software, 
 Economic copyrights, 
 Rights to trademarks, utility and decoration models, 
 Know-how, 
 Perpetual usufruct rights,  
 Other intangible assets. 

 
Initial value of intangible assets 
The initial value of intangible assets is the acquisition cost, which includes the amount due 
to the seller and other costs directly related to the acquisition of the intangible assets.  

 
 



Financial statements of  EUROCASH S.A. (TRANSLATION ONLY) 

Financial statements period: 01.01-31.12.2005 Reporting currency: Polish zloty (PLN) 

Level of round-offs: All amounts are expressed in Polish zloty  (unless indicated otherwise) 

 

 13/78

 
Amortisation 
The assessment of useful economic life takes into account the time in which the intangible 
assets will bring measurable economic benefits. If the assessment of useful economic life is 
difficult or the expected measurable benefits are uncertain, then in accordance with the 
conservative valuation principle, the write off should be fully charged to expenses.  
The Company applies the following annual amortisation rates for specific groups of 
intangible assets:  
 licenses – computer software 33.3% 
 economic copyrights 20% 
 trademarks 5% - 10% 
 know-how 10% 
 other intangible assets 20% 

 
Due to difficult to specify/ indefinite period of using the “Eurocash” and “ABC” trademarks, 
they are not amortised, but only periodically tested for the impairment of value with a 
frequency assuring that no material differences between the book value and recoverable 
amount at the balance–sheet date occurred. The “Eurocash” and “ABC” trademarks are 
tested for the impairment of value annually.  
 
Review of amortisation rates and write-offs on permanent impairment of value  
Not later than at the end of each financial year are the amortisation rates applied to the 
value of intangible assets subject to a review. If the amortisation rates require adjustment, 
the adjustment is made in the following financial year and subsequent financial years. 
 
Not later than at the end of each financial year the intangible assets are also subject to a 
review with respect to the permanent impairment of value and the need to make relevant 
revaluation write-offs. These write-offs should be charged to other operating expenses not 
later than at the balance-sheet date, i.e. in the year when the permanent impairment of 
value was assessed. 
In accordance with the requirements specified in IAS no 36 regarding the assessment test 
whether there has not appeared impairment of value of the intangible assets with indefinite 
time of usage, the Company holds the impairment value test comparing balance-sheet value 
of a certain item with its recoverable value, regardless of whether there is any basis for such 
value impairment to occur.  

 
Valuation of intangible assets at the balance–sheet date  
At the end of the financial year (i.e. the balance-sheet date), intangible assets are to be 
valued at their acquisition cost less amortisation charges and write-offs on permanent 
impairment of value.  
 
 

2.6. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

Definition 
Tangible fixed assets include Company-controlled tangible fixed assets suitable for 
economic use (useable and intended for the use of the Company's own purposes), whose 
expected economic useful life is longer than a year.  
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The Company’s tangible fixed assets include: 
 Lands, 
 Buildings and premises, 
 Technical equipment and machinery, 
 Vehicles, 
 Other tangible fixed assets (furniture, etc.), 
 Tangible fixed assets under construction, 
 Prepayments for tangible fixed assets under construction. 

 
Initial value of tangible fixed assets 
The initial value of tangible fixed assets is equal to the acquisition cost, which is the 
acquisition price of a tangible fixed asset including the amount payable to the seller (without 
the deductible value added and excise taxes).  
As for imports, the acquisition cost also includes public - law charges.  
 
Acquisition cost also includes costs incurred directly in connection with acquisition of a 
tangible fixed asset and its adjustment in order to make it useful, or introduction into trading, 
including transportation, loading, unloading and storage costs, as well as costs of 
introducing tangible fixed assets into trading, and reduced by rebates, discounts and other 
similar reductions and recoveries. 
Should it be impossible to determine the acquisition cost of a certain tangible fixed asset, in 
particular of a tangible fixed asset accepted free of charge, including as a donation, 
acquisition cost shall be established at the selling price of the same or similar item i.e. fair 
value.  
 
The cost of production of tangible fixed assets under construction includes all costs incurred 
during the period of their construction, assembly, adaptation and improvement until the 
balance-sheet date or their acceptance for use, including:  
 non-deductible value added and excise taxes,  
 cost of servicing liabilities incurred in order to finance such tangible fixed assets and 

any related foreign exchange gains/losses less any income generated from it.  
 
Improvements of tangible fixed assets 
The initial value of a given tangible fixed asset is increased by the costs of its improvement, 
i.e. refitting, extension, modernisation or reconstruction, and adaptation, provided that the 
expenditures on improvements resulted in an increased useable value of the tangible fixed 
asset in comparison to the value at which the tangible fixed asset was accepted in service. 
An increase in the useable value of a tangible fixed asset may be the result of an extension 
of useful economic life, an increase of production capacity, an improvement of the quality of 
products manufactured with the use of a certain tangible fixed asset or reduced costs of 
operating of the tangible fixed asset.  
  
All costs (for example periodic overhauls) connected with maintenance of a certain tangible 
fixed asset, which do not lead to an increase in its useable value, do not increase its initial 
value. When making decisions on an increase of value of tangible fixed assets, the 
Company acts in accordance with the materiality criteria.  
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated for all tangible fixed assets with the exception of owned lands and 
tangible fixed assets under construction, through the estimated time of useful economic life, 
using the straight–line method with the application of the following annual depreciation rates:  
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 buildings and structures 10% 
 technical equipment and machinery 10% - 60% 
 vehicles 14% - 20% 
 other tangible assets 20% 

 
In justified cases (when the benefits generated by the assets are not distributed evenly in 
time), another applicable depreciation method is applied (for example declining or 
progressive depreciation or any other means justified by the distribution of usefulness of an 
asset). Currently, the Company applies the straight-line method only to amortise tangible 
fixed assets.  
 
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line method starting from the month 
following the month when the asset is placed in service. Depreciation is calculated on a 
monthly basis. 
 
Profits or losses resulting form sale, disposal or discontinuance of use of tangible fixed 
assets are assessed as the difference between sales revenues and the net value of tangible 
fixed assets and are included in the profit and loss statement.  

 
Review of amortisation rates, permanent impairment of value write–offs  
Not later than at the end of each financial year the amortisation rates and methods applied 
to the tangible fixed assets are subject to a review. If the amortisation rates and methods 
require adjustment, the adjustment is made in the following financial year and subsequent 
financial years.  
 
Not later than at the end of each financial year tangible fixed assets (tangible fixed assets, 
tangible fixed assets under construction) are also subject to a review with respect to the 
permanent impairment of value and the possible need to make relevant revaluation write-
offs.  
In the event that it is very likely that a tangible fixed asset will not generate a significant part 
of the expected economic benefits in the future or that it will not generate any economic 
benefits at all, a revaluation write-off should be made. Permanent impairment of value 
occurs, for example, in the event of a disposal or a withdrawal of a certain asset from use. 
 
Revaluation write-offs should be charged to other operating expenses not later than at the 
balance-sheet date (i.e. in the year when the permanent impairment of value occurred).  
 
In the event that the cause for which the revaluation write-offs is made, including permanent 
impairment of value, ceases, the equivalent of the entire or a relevant part of the revaluation 
write-off previously made increases the value of the given asset and is included in either 
other operating or financial income. 
 
Valuation of tangible fixed assets as the the balance-sheet date  
Lands, buildings and structures used during operational activity are disclosed on the 
balance-sheet at the value (revalued) equal to the amount gained on valuation of a given 
asset to its fair value, made by an expert on the basis of market assumptions (at a particular 
day of valuation) less depreciation write-offs and impairment of value in the subsequent 
periods. Valuations are made with frequency assuring lack of significant differences between 
the book and fair values as at the balance-sheet date. 
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An increase of value resulting from revaluation of owned lands, buildings and structures is 
disclosed in the position of revaluation reserve capital, with the exception of situations where 
such a value increases and averts the previous write-off recognised in the profit and loss 
account (in such an event, the increase of value is also disclosed in the profit and loss 
account, however, only to the previous write-off amount). The decrease of value resulting 
from revaluation of owned lands, buildings and structures is disclosed as the cost of period, 
in the amount exceeding the value of the previous valuation of the tangible fixed asset 
disclosed in the position of revaluation reserve capital. 
 
Depreciation of revalued buildings and structures is disclosed in the profit and loss account. 
At the moment of sale or termination of use of revalued buildings and structures, the 
outstanding revaluation amount regarding the given assets is transferred directly from the 
revaluation reserve capital to retained income.  
 
The company’s assets, including owned lands, buildings and structures, were valued in 
accordance with market values as at 30th September 2002 and they were contributed in-kind 
in accordance with these market values at the moment of the foundation of the Company. In 
the opinion of the Management Board, within the period from 30th September 2002 until the 
balance-sheet date, there was no permanent impairment of value of the above-mentioned 
assets, and therefore no revaluation of owned lands, buildings and structures was made and 
their book value is the fair value.   
 
Machinery, equipment, vehicles and other tangible fixed assets are presented in the 
balance-sheet in the amount of historical cost less the accumulated amortisation and 
impairment of value write-offs.  
 
Tangible assets under construction that are to be used in the activity as well as for purposes 
not yet identified are presented in the balance-sheet in accordance with their production cost 
less impairment of value write-offs.  The production cost is increased by the payments and, 
for certain assets, by external financing expenses capitalized in accordance with the rules 
specified in the accountancy rules.  
 
Stocktaking of fixed assets 
Stocktaking of fixed assets is conducted every four years.  
 
 

2.7. EXTERNAL FINANCING COSTS 

External financing expenses connected directly with an acquisition or a production of 
adjusted assets are included in the production costs of such tangible assets until the assets 
are useable. Such costs are decreased by the income generated from temporary 
investments of the funds gained for the purposes of manufacturing of the assets. The costs 
of external financing include interests and other costs incurred by the entity connected with 
borrowing the funds. 
 
Any other costs of external financing are charged directly to the profit and loss account in 
the period in which they were incurred.   
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2.8. LEASING 

A lease agreement is considered a finance lease if all the risks and significant economic 
benefits relating to the ownership of the lease subject are transferred to the lessee. Any 
other types of leasing are regarded as operating leasing.   
 
A lease agreement is considered a finance lease agreement if at least one of the following 
conditions is satisfied: 
 transfers the ownership of the leased asset to the Company after the expiry of its 

term, 
 includes the right to acquire the leased asset by the Company after the expiry of its 

term, at a price lower than the market value at the date of acquisition, 
 term of the agreement largely corresponds to the expected economic useful life of 

the tangible fixed asset, provided that it may not be shorter than ¾ (three fourths) of 
the term of the agreement. The ownership of the leased property may be, after the 
expiry of the term of the agreement, transferred to the Company, 

 total amount of lease payments, less the applicable discount rate, determined at the 
date of the agreement and due and payable during its term, exceeds 90% of the 
market value of the leased asset as at that date. Total payments include the 
residual value of the leased property which the user undertakes to pay in exchange 
for the transfer of ownership of the subject of the agreement. Total amounts of 
payments do not include payments to the Company for additional performances, 
taxes and insurance premiums for the leased asset, if the user covers them 
regardless of  the fees for use, 

 includes a promise on the part of the financing party to conclude with the Company 
another agreement for paid use of the same asset or to prolong the existing 
agreement on  conditions more favorable than those provided for in the existing 
agreement, 

 allows the possibility for the agreement to be terminated, provided that any costs 
and losses incurred by the financing party regarding the termination are paid by the 
Company, 

 the leased asset has been adapted to the needs of the user. It may be used 
exclusively by the user, without introducing any significant modifications to it. 

 
 Assets used on the basis of finance lease agreements are considered equally with own 
assets of the Company and are valued as of the commencement of the lease agreement in 
accordance with the lesser of the two values: fair value of the asset which is the leasing 
subject or the current value of minimal leasing charges. Leasing payments are divided into 
the interest part and the capital part in such a manner as to let the interest rate from the 
outstanding amount be a fixed amount.  
Lease liability is recognised under "Financial liabilities" item in division into short- and long-
term liabilities. 
 
The finance lease assets are depreciated during the shorter of the two terms: the finance 
lease agreement term or the useful economic “life” of the leased asset. However, if under 
the agreement the Company has the right to extend the lease agreement by a specific 
period (in all likelihood, the Company will exercise this right), then the depreciation period 
should also include this additional lease period.  
 
Lease payments due to operating leasing are applied to the profit and loss account with the 
straight-line method during the lease period.  
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2.9. INVESTMENT REAL ESTATE  

Real estate is considered investment real estate if it is recognised as the source of rent 
income and/or is owned with respect to an expected increase in its value.  
Investment real estate is valued as at the balance-sheet date at fair value.  
Profits and losses resulting from the changes in the fair value of investment real estate is 
disclosed in the profit and loss account in the period during which they arose. 

2.10. LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 
Definition 
Long-term accounts receivable include receivables which are due more than one year from 
the balance-sheet date. 
The portion of long-term receivables that is due within one year from the balance-sheet date 
should be disclosed under short-term accounts receivable. 
Long-term accounts receivable include prepaid security deposits, which are under long-term 
(multi-year) store lease agreements. 
 
Valuation of long-term accounts receivable as at the balance-sheet date 
Accounts receivable are valued as at the balance-sheet date at amounts due and payable 
less possible revaluation write-offs of such receivables. 
In the case of security deposits, they are recognised at par value as at the balance-sheet 
date.  

2.11. LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME 

 
Deferred income tax assets 
The Company creates deferred tax assets as at the balance-sheet date if the assets can be 
a source of economic benefit in the future.  
 
Due to the timing differences between the value of assets and equity and liabilities disclosed 
in the accounting books, and their tax value and the future deductible tax loss, the entity 
creates a provision and recognizes deferred income tax assets.  
 
The tax value of assets is the amount that causes a reduction of taxable income in the event 
that the assets are, directly or indirectly, the source of economic benefits. If economic 
benefits related to given assets do not cause a reduction in taxable income, then the tax 
value of the assets is considered their book value.  
The tax value of equity and liabilities is their book value less the amounts that in the future 
will reduce taxable income.  
 
Deferred income tax assets are apprised at the amount assumed in the future to be 
deducted from income tax in connection with negative timing differences, which will result in 
the future in a reduction of taxable income and a deductible tax loss established in line with 
the principle of conservative valuation.   
 
Negative timing differences include mainly:  
 tax losses brought forward, 
 revaluation write-offs on fixed assets, inventories, receivables, 
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 provisions which temporarily are not tax-deductible costs.  
The value of deferred tax assets is established taking into account the income tax rates that 
are in force in the year when the tax obligation arises.  
 
In accordance with IAS no 12, the Company applies compensation of diferred tax assets 
and provisions.  
 
The diferred part recognised in the „Income tax” item disclosed in the profit and loss account 
is the difference between the amount of the differed tax liabilities and assets as at the end of 
the reporting period, and as at the beginning of such a period. 
The liabilities and assets concerning operations disclosed under equity, applies also to 
equity. 
 
Other long–term prepayments and accrued income 
Other prepayments and accrued income include expenses incurred until the balance-sheet 
date, representing costs of future reporting periods, within the period exceeding 12 months 
from the balance-sheet date.  
 
At every balance-sheet date an analysis of long-term prepayments and accrued income is 
conducted. The portion of prepayments and accrued income which is realized within 12 
months from the balance-sheet date is disclosed as short-term prepayments and accrued 
income.  
The above analysis is made by the Company in respect of reasonable judgment and its 
knowledge of the particular elements of the prepayments and accrued income. 
 

2.12. FIXED ASSETS AND GROUPS OF NET FIXED ASSETS INTENDED FOR DISPOSAL  

Fixed assets classified as intended for disposal and groups of net fixed assets intended for 
disposal are valued by the lower of the two values: balance-sheet or fair value less costs of 
sale. 
The Company classifies tangible assets element (or a group intended for sale) as intended 
for sale if its balance-sheet value will be recovered first of all in the course of a sale 
transaction and not through its further usage.  
Such situation occurs if the following conditions are fulfilled:  
- assets element (or a group intended for sale) is available for an immediate sale at its 
current state, considering only ordinary and commonly accepted conditions of selling assets 
(or a group intended for sale) of such type and its sale is highly likely; 
- representatives of a relevant level of management are determined to complete the sales 
plan of the assets element (or a group intended for sale); 
- an active program of soliciting a purchaser and completion of the program has been 
commenced; 
- assets element (or a group intended for sale) must be actively offered for sale at a price 
which is rational in reference to its current fair value; 
- the sale will be recognised as completed within one year from the day of classification, and 
the activities necessary for the completion of the program indicate that it is highly unlikely 
that any significant changes in the program will be made or that the program will be 
withdrawn from. 
 

2.13. INVENTORIES 
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Definition 
The Company’s inventories include: 
 Goods acquired intended for sale in the course of ordinary activity, 
 Materials acquired to be used for the Company’s own needs, 
 Prepayments for deliveries of materials and goods.  

 
Rules for establishing acquisition price 
Acquisition cost is assessed using the first in – first out (FIFO) method. The Company 
applies this method of assessing acquisition cost in relation to all inventories positions.  
 
Acquisition cost includes all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in the course of 
bringing inventories to their current place and state.  
Purchase costs include acquisition cost, import duty and other taxes (other than taxes that 
may be recoverable later by an entity from the tax office) as well as the costs of transport, 
loading and unloading and other costs directly connected with the goods.  
Purchase costs are reduced by rebates, discounts and other similar items.  
 
Valuation as at the balance-sheet date  
During the year, inventories are evidenced in the accounting books at the most recent 
acquisition price of the relevant inventories item. Inventories are valued at the balance-sheet 
date at the most recent acquisition price adjusted by relevant revaluation write-offs.  
Valuation at the most recent acquisition prices taking into account the specifics of trading 
conducted by the Company, and in particular fast rotation of inventories means that this is 
not very different from the FIFO valuation.   
 
The Company recognizes the following circumstances in which revaluation write–offs on 
inventories is necessary:  
 loss of usable value of inventory (damage, obsolete inventories etc.), 
 exceeding the balance of inventory resulting from need or Company's ability to sell, 
 slow rotation of inventories, 
 loss of market value due to decrease of sale prices lower than the level of 

inventories valuation – net value possible to be gained.  
 
The Company creates revaluation write-offs in accordance with the following rules:  
 100% on inventories kept for more than  9 months,  
 100% on damaged or obsolete inventories – identified during stocktaking,  
 100% on inventories which have lost their market value. 

 
If the acquisition price is higher than the net sale price as at the balance-sheet date, the 
acquisition cost is reduced to the net sale price through a revaluation write-off.  
 
Any revaluation write-offs on inventories are charged to other operating expenses.  
 
Stocktaking 
Inventories kept by the Company are subject to stocktaking in accordance with the 
stocktaking timetable. Stocktaking is considered to be continuous as each localization is, at 
least twice a year, subject to a planned stocktaking. Additionally, there are explanatory, 
controlling, acceptance and random stocktakings carried out.  
Discrepancies between the actual balance of inventories and the balance disclosed in the 
books, revealed during the stocktaking, are analyzed, explained and settled in the 
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accounting books for the year in which the stocktaking was carried out. Stocktaking results 
are disclosed in the accounting books on a monthly basis.  
  

2.14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
Definition 
The Company recognises each agreement, which simultaneously results in the creation of 
an item of financial assets with one party, and a financial obligation or an equity instrument 
with the other party as a financial instrument, provided that the contract concluded by two or 
more parties results in clear economic effects.  
 
According to IAS no 39, the Company classifies financial instruments as: 
 
 Financial assets or financial liabilities elements – these elements are valued at fair 

value on the basis of the profit and loss account acquired or incurred mainly to sell 
or buy back in near future or are a part of a portfolio of particular financial 
instruments which are managed jointly  and for which the confirmation of the current 
and actual pattern of generation of short-term profits exists;   

 Held-to-maturity investments – financial assets which are not derivative 
instruments, with payments that are defined or possible to define and with specified 
maturity, in relation to which the Company has strong intention and is able to 
maintain the ownership until their maturity; 

 Loans and receivables – financial assets which are not derivative instruments, with 
defined or possible to define payments, which are not quoted on the active market; 

 Financial assets available for sale – financial assets which are not derivative 
instruments, which were assessed as available for sale or which are not (a) loans 
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets valued at 
fair value by financial result. 

 
The Company is obligated, not later than as at the day of conclusion of a contract, to enter 
into the accounting books the issued or written instrument, as well as any components of the 
instrument, which are distinguishable, respectively qualified to shareholder’s equity as equity 
instruments, short-term liabilities or long-term liabilities, also in the event that the liability 
item is not a financial instrument. 
 
Revaluation differences and the income generated or losses incurred, affect the financial 
result (liabilities) or the revaluation capital (equity instruments) respectively, dependent on 
the classification of a particular financial instrument. 
As of the day of acquisition, the Company recognises financial assets and liabilities at cost 
(price) of the acquisition, i.e. the fair value paid for the assets or in the case of liabilities – the 
amount received. The Company includes the costs of transaction in the initial value of 
valuation of all the financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Valuation of financial instruments as at the balance-sheet date 
The Company values in accordance with the following: 

 at amortised cost, taking into account effective interest rate: financial assets or 
liabilities, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and financial assets 
available for sale. 
In the event of the aforementioned items, they also may be assessed at the amount 
due, if the discount effects are not material,  



Financial statements of  EUROCASH S.A. (TRANSLATION ONLY) 

Financial statements period: 01.01-31.12.2005 Reporting currency: Polish zloty (PLN) 

Level of round-offs: All amounts are expressed in Polish zloty  (unless indicated otherwise) 

 

 22/78

 at due and payable amount: short-term receivables and liabilities,  
 at fair value: financial assets and liabilities held for trading and financial assets held for 

sale. 
 
Changes in fair value of financial instruments held for trading, which are not hedging 
instruments are recognised as financial income or costs at the time at which they arise. 
 

2.15. TRADE AND OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES 

 
Trade receivables 
Trade receivables include accounts receivable resulting from deliveries or services provided, 
which are due up to 12 months and exceeding 12 months. 
This item does not include prepaid deliveries payable to suppliers, which are included in the 
inventories item, as well as any prepayments for intangible assets and tangible fixed assets 
under construction, which increase the fixed assets. 
 
Other short-term receivables 
Other short-term receivables include accounts receivable due within a period shorter than 1 
year from the balance sheet-date, with the exception of trade receivables. 
This item does not include any prepayments for intangible assets and tangible fixed assets 
under construction, which are included in the fixed assets. 
 
Valuation of the trade receivables and other short-term receivables as at the balance-
sheet date 
Trade receivables and other short-term receivables are recognised in the books at the due 
amount adjusted by respective revaluation write-offs. The value of particular accounts 
receivable should be discounted to current value in case the impact of value of money in 
time is material.  
The interest due for delays in payments by the Company’s clients is disclosed at the 
moment of receipt of money by the Company. 
 
Valuation of the accounts receivable denominated in foreign currency as at the 
balance-sheet date 
Accounts receivable denominated in foreign currencies are subject to valuation not less than 
on balance-sheet date, at the mid exchange rate given by the National Bank of Poland for 
that date. 
The currencies exchange differences resulting from the accounts receivable denominated in 
foreign currencies, which arise as of the valuation date, are assigned either to financial 
income or to financial expenses respectively. 
 
Receivables revaluation write-offs are made for: 
 accounts receivable from debtors declared bankrupt or liquidated – up to the 

amount  of receivables, which is not covered by a guarantee or other security, 
 accounts receivable from debtors in the event a petition in bankruptcy was 

dismissed due to the fact that such debtor’s assets are insufficient to cover the 
costs of bankruptcy proceedings – up to the full amount receivables, 

 accounts receivable questioned by the debtors – up to unsecured amount, 
 accounts receivable past due or not yet past due, but highly likely to become past 

due – in the amount reliably estimated by the Company (based on past experience, 
reliable analysis, forecasts, etc), 
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 accounts receivable under court proceeding – 100% of the due amount of the 
receivables, 

 accounts receivable past due exceeding 180 days – 100% of the due amount of the 
receivables. 

 
Revaluation write-offs on the accounts receivable should take into account not only events 
which occurred until the balance-sheet date, but also the ones disclosed subsequent to that 
date, up to the day of approval of the financial statements by the Management Board for 
publication, in the event that such events relate to any receivables included in the 
accounting books as at the balance-sheet date.  
The revaluation write-offs shall be charged to other operational costs, and in the event of 
interest – should be charged to financial expenses. 
 
Verification of the receivables 
Trade receivables as at the balance-sheet date are verified through confirmation of balances 
as at this date. 
The results of the verification of the receivables are taken into account during the revaluation 
of the accounts receivable as at the balance-sheet date. 

2.16. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES 

Investments in securities are recognised as intended for trading or available for sale and 
valued at their fair value as at the balance-sheet date. In the event that the securities were 
classified as intended for trading, profits and losses resulting from the changes of fair value 
are disclosed in the profit and loss account for a particular period. In the case of assets 
available for sale, gains and losses resulting from the changes of their fair value are 
disclosed directly in capitals until the moment of disposal of such assets or recognition of 
impairment of value. In such an event accumulated gains and losses recognised previously 
in the capital are transferred to the profit and loss account for a particular period. 

2.17. SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME 

Short-term prepayments and accrued income includes expenses incurred until the balance-
sheet date which are the costs of future reporting periods, within the period of 12 months as 
of the balance-sheet date. 
 
At every balance-sheet date an analysis of short-term prepayments and accrued income is 
conducted. The portion of prepayments and accrued income which is realized within 12 
months from the balance-sheet date should be disclosed as short-term prepayments and 
accrued income.  
The above analysis is made by the Company in respect of reasonable judgment and its 
knowledge of the particular elements of the prepayments and accrued income. 
 
The short-term prepayments include, inter alia, the short-term part of the following items: 
 prepaid rent, 
 prepaid electricity and central heating, 
 prepaid subscription and insurance,  
 prepaid services (for example telecomunication services), 
 settlement of transportation costs, 
 advance payments for the equipment lease agreements. 
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2.18. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

Long-term liabilities comprise liabilities with maturity over 12 months as of the balance-sheet 
date. 
 
Long-term liabilities comprise mainly: 
 liabilities under contracted loans and borrowings,  
 financial liabilities under finance lease agreements, 
 liabilities towards sub-lessees of warehouse space under security deposits paid by 

such sub-lessees. 
 
Valuation of long-term liabilities as at the balance-sheet date 
Long-term liabilities are disclosed at amounts due, which also include unpaid interest. 
Interest is recorded at the time of receipt of interest notes. 
 
 
Valuation of liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance-sheet date 
Liabilities denominated in foreign currencies should be valued at least once in a reporting 
period at the balance-sheet date, at the mid-exchange rate quoted by the National Bank of 
Poland for a given currency for the valuation date. 
Currency-translation differences related to long-term liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, arising as at the valuation date, are disclosed under financial income or 
expenses respectively. 

2.19. SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 

Short-term liabilities comprise liabilities with maturity of less than 12 months as at the 
balance-sheet date (excluding trade liabilities). 
 
Short-term liabilities comprise in particular:  
 liabilities under contracted loans and borrowings, 
 financial liabilities under finance  lease agreements, 
 trade liabilities, 
 tax, duty, social security and other benefits, 
 salaries and wages. 

 
Valuation of short-term liabilities as at the balance-sheet date 
Short-term liabilities are disclosed as amounts due, which also includes unpaid interest and 
unpaid interest accruals. Interest is recorded at the time of receipt of interest notes. 
 
Valuation of liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance-sheet date 
Liabilities denominated in foreign currencies should be valued at least once in a reporting 
period at the balance-sheet date, at the mid-exchange rate quoted by the National Bank of 
Poland for a given currency for the valuation date. 
Currency-translation differences related to short-term liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, arising as at the valuation date, should be disclosed under financial income or 
expenses respectively. 

2.20. BANK LOANS 

Interest-bearing bank loans are disclosed at the acquisition cost corresponding with the fair 
value of the funds gained, less costs directly related to obtaining such loans. In subsequent 
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periods, the loans are valued in accordance with the amortised acquisition price, with the 
usage of effective interest rate. 

2.21. CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS 

Capital instruments issued by the Company are disclosed at the value of the funds 
generated from the issue, less direct costs of the issue. 

2.22. PROVISIONS 

The provisions are made in cases where the Company is obliged (either legally or 
customarly) due to historical events and where it is very likely that fulfillment of such 
obligation will result in an outflow of funds and where a reliable estimation of the amount of 
such a liability is possible. 
 
The provisions comprise, inter alia, the following costs: 
 remuneration and bonuses of employees, 
 agency wholesale outlets commissions, 
 rents and  media, 
 transportation costs, 
 mail and telecommunication services, 
 consulting services, 
 financial statements auditing services. 

 
The use of provisions may take place according to the time elapsed or the amount of 
payments. The time and method of settlement shall depend on the type of costs, subject to 
conservative valuation. 
 
Liabilities disclosed under provisions reduce the costs of the reporting period in which it was 
found that such liabilities did not occur. 
 
Valuation of provisions denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance-sheet 
date 
Provisions denominated in foreign currencies should be valuated at least once in a reporting 
period at the balance-sheet date, at the mid-exchange rate quoted by the National Bank of 
Poland for a given currency for the valuation date. 
Currency-translation differences related to the provisions denominated in foreign currencies, 
arising as at the valuation date, should be disclosed under financial income or expenses. 

2.23. SALES REVENUES 

Sales revenues are recognised – pursuant to International Accounting Standard no 18 
“Revenue” at the fair value of payments received or due and represent trade receivables 
delivered in the course of ordinary business activity less rabates, VAT tax and other taxes 
related to the sale (excise tax). 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenues on sales are recognised upon fulfillment of the following conditions: 
 the entity transferred significant risk and benefits resulting from the ownership rights 

to the goods to purchaser, 
 the entity ceases its continuous involvement in management of the disposed goods 

to the extend such function is customarily towards the owned goods, and does not 
have effective control over the goods, 
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 the amount of income may be assessed in a reliable manner, 
 there is a likelihood that an entity achieves economic benefits from the transaction, 
 the costs incurred and to be incurred by an entity with regard to the transaction may 

be assessed in a reliable manner. 
 
Provision of services 
Revenues from the transaction are recognised on the basis of a level of execution of the 
transaction as at the balance-sheet date, in the case where the result of the transaction 
regarding provision of services may be valued in a reliable manner. The result of the 
transaction may be evaluated in a reliable manner, provided that the following conditions are 
met:  
 the amount of revenues may be assessed in a reliable manner, 
 there is the likelihood that an entity achieves economic benefits from the 

transaction, 
 the level of the execution of the transaction may be defined in a reliable manner as 

at the balance-sheet date, 
 the costs incurred in relation to the transaction and the costs of the completion of 

the transaction may be assessed in a reliable manner. 
 
In the event that the result of the transaction regarding provision of services may not be 
reliably evaluated, revenues from the transaction will be recognised only to the amount of 
the costs incurred which the entity expects to recover. 
 
Interest revenues are recognised gradually as they arise in relation to the main amount due, 
in accordance with the effective percentage rate method. 
 
Dividend revenues are recognised at the moment of establishing the right of the 
shareholders to receive such dividends.  

2.24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

In accordance with the provisions of the International Accounting Standards, the Company 
includes in its financial statements the costs of retirement and other employee benefits 
provided after termination of their employment, by creating a provision for retirement 
benefits. The application of IAS no 19 “Employee Benefits” resulted in creation of a provision 
for employee benefits after termination of employment with the application of the “Projected 
Unit Credit”. The actuarial forecast of projected unit method was prepared by a certified 
actuary. Liabilities identified on the memorial basis were assessed as future discounted 
payments, adjusted by employees rotation rate and demographic rate, to which the 
employees were entitled as at the balance-sheet date. 

2.25. TAXES 

Obligatory tax charges for a given reporting period include: current taxes and deferred taxes. 
 
The current tax charges are calculated on the basis of tax result (tax base) of the particular 
financial year. Tax profit (loss) is different from the accounting net profit (loss) due to the 
exclusion of taxable revenues and costs of income acquisition in the following years and the 
income and cost items which are no subject to taxation. Tax charges are calculated based 
on the tax rates applicable for particular financial year. 
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Deferred tax is assessed with the use of balance-sheet method as a payable or returnable 
tax in the future, on the differences between the balance-sheet amounts of assets and 
liabilities and corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.   
 
The deferred tax provision is created from all taxable positive timing differences, however 
deferred tax asset is recognised to the amount in which it is likely that it will decrease future 
tax gains by recognised negative timing differences. The tax assets or liabilities do not arise 
in the event that the timing differences arises from the goodwill of the Company or initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in the transaction that affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit. 
 
Deferred tax accrual is recognised from tax timing differences arised as a result of 
investments in subsidiaries and joint-ventures unless the Group is able to control the reverse 
moment of the timing difference and its is likely that in the foreseeable future such a timing 
difference will not reverse.  
 
The value of the deferred tax assets is analyzed as at each balance-sheet date, and in the 
event that expected future tax gains will not be sufficient to realize such an asset or its part, 
its write-off is conducted. 
 
The deferred tax is calculated on the basis of tax rates which will be in force in the moment 
of realization of such asset item or in the moment when the liability will be due. The deferred 
tax is disclosed in the profit and loss statement except when it relates to items charged 
directly to equity. In such a case the deferred tax is also dealt with an equity. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01.01.2005 TO 31.12.2005  

NOTE NO 1  
OPERATIONS SEGMENTS – BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL 

Pursuant to IAS no 14, Segment reporting, the Company is obligated to present results of its operations by 
operations segments. 
In accordance with the provisions of the IAS, such a presentation is to help the user of financial statements 
to: 
 better understand the results achieved by the entity, 
 better assess the risks and returns on investment of an entity, 
 make more justified judgments about the entity as a whole. 

 
Segmentation of presented performance results is crucial in assessment of risks and returns on 
investments of an entity with a diversified operations profile or multinational entity, when obtaining required 
information from the aggregated data may not be possible. 
 
IRS no 14 presents the following definitions: 
 
Business segment 
A business segment is a distinguishable part of an entity, which provides products or services or a group 
of related products or services, which is subject to risks and returns on investments that are different from 
those of other business segments. 
 
Geographical segment 
A geographical segment is a distinguishable part of an entity, which provides products or services in a 
particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns on investments that are different 
from those operating in other economic environments. 
 
As a result of an analysis of economic operations conducted by Eurocash S.A. taking into account the 
regulations of IAS no 14 Segment reporting, the Management Board of the Company decided not to 
present operational results by segments.  
 
The major basis for that decision was the following: 
With regard to business segments 
 the Company conducts coherent business operations in the area of Fast Moving Consumer 

Goods (FMCG), 
 the categories of products distinguished for the purposes of internal reporting do not satisfy 

minimal criteria listed in par. 14.35 of the IAS no 14,  
 application of the reporting requirement to the aforesaid categories of products, despite their size, 

due to the number of product categories, seems unpractical as compared to the benefits that a 
potential user of financial statements may derive from their analysis, 

 due to the fact that there are no similarities among many of the product categories, joining of the 
categories in one segment may disfigure the financial statements or mislead the user of financial 
statements, 

 
With regard to geographical segments 
 the operations are conducted on the territory of Poland only, the Company has no subsidiaries or 

branches abroad, and export sales is of marginal nature, 
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 the analysis of risks related to operations of discount wholesale outlets in particular geographical 
regions of the country indicates that it is similar in all the regions, 

 the analysis of profitability indicates that the rates of return generated in particular geographical 
regions are similar, in particular they are not directly related to the geographical region in which 
the operations are conducted. 
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NOTE NO 2  
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Information concerning intangible assets was presented in table no 1 below. 
 
 

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2004 - 4 511 518 -

- -

-

Other changes - - -

Increase due to acquisition
Decrease due to sale

101 271 122

Exchange gain/loss

-

Write-off reversal - -

-Exchange gain/loss -
Amortisation - (762 167) -

Decrease due to sale

Impairment loss - -

-

Advances

Goodwill
Patents and 

licences

Net carrying value as at 1 January 2005

Net carrying value as at 1 January 2004 - 572 578
Increase due to acquisition -

Increase or decrease due to revaluation

-
-

-

-
Other changes

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2005

Increase or decrease due to revaluation
Impairment loss

Amortisation
Write-off reversal

-

(2 153 718)

-

4 511 518

-

(47 682)

101 271 122

124 865
-

44 797 972

-

Other intangible 
fixed assets

(47 682)

-

11 308 606

-

Advances

9 840 000
-

Costs of R&D

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2005 

Table No. 1

212 132
107 847 982

-
12 340 000

-
(12 340 000)

-

1 343 741

-
-

-
-
-
-

58 626 867

-

-
-

-

4 888 107

-
(187 000)

-

-

-

- -

212 132

(1 877 438) -

-
-

-

-

- -

-

-
(7 059 198)

2 500 000
-
-

(2 915 885)

-
-
-
-
-

110 819 0592 971 077

(8 936 637)
-
-
-

45 370 550

108 282 640

108 282 640
-
-

Total

-
(187 000)

63 514 974

2 500 000

2 500 000

2 500 000

-

- - -

- -

-

-

-
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Table No. 1

101 271 122

Pozostałe
wartości

niematerialne

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 (continued)

Net carrying value - 4 511 518 -

123 153 042

108 282 640

(12 333 982)(9 250 545)
Gross carrying value - 6 054 515 -

Net carrying value - 2 971 077 - 110 819 059
-
-107 847 982

- (3 083 438) -

As at 31 December 2005 
117 098 527

Total accumulated amortisation and write-offs

2 500 000
-

-

(3 397 346)
111 679 985

Razem

As at 1 January 2005
103 462 468

(1 205 999) (2 191 346)-
2 500 000

Zaliczki

-
-

Wartość
firmy

Patenty
i licencje

Koszty
prac

rozwojowych

Gross carrying value - 5 717 517
Total accumulated amortisation and write-offs

 
 
The Company did not make revaluation write-offs for permanent impairment of value of intangible assets. 
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NOTE NO 3  
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

Information concerning tangible fixed assets was presented in table no 2 below. 

-

-

--

(21 181)

(1 756 443)

11 494 898

(4 995 128)
-
-

-
(6 909 863)

Exchange gain/loss - - -

-

12 791 129 9 006 689
Other changes - -

Impairment loss -

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2005 32 251 902

-

- -

Depreciation (3 680 794) (4 312 716)
- -Write-off reversal -

- -
- -Assets held for sale -

Increase or decrease due to revaluation -

-

(5 067 944)

8 277 924
-

-
3 109 094

Decrease due to sale (2 613 937) (283 135) (618 718)

Acquisition due to merger of enterprises - - -
Increase due to acquisition 3 787 687

-

11 914 827

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2004 34 758 946 14 286 346

Net carrying value as at 1 January 2005 34 758 946 14 286 346

Other changes - - --

-

(4 678 507) (1 462 298)(4 229 317) (4 049 590)
- - - -

Impairment loss - - -
-

Assets held fro sale
(134 400)

Increase or decrease due to revaluation - - -
- -

Decrease due to sale
-

-

(542 363)

-
4 581 954

-
(720 553)

-

--
(22 609)

1 858 321
Net carrying value as at 1 January 2004 36 938 395

Acquisition due to merger of enterprises - - -
Increase due to acquisition 2 184 268 2 052 617 1 303 139

12 663 463 6 600 183

Table No. 2

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

14 648 460

-

6 730 415

3 100 634 1 542 340
6 730 415

11 914 827

6 127 355

(1 552 155)
-

-

Write-off reversal

- - -Exchange gain/loss -
Depreciation

Other fixed assets
Land, buildings 
and structures

Machinery and 
equipment Means of transport

Increase due to lease 3 109 094

4 269 954

-

Increase due to lease 312 000

-
-
-

(14 419 713)

68 510 733
22 835 940

17 932 545

(14 745 081)

-
-
-
-

(10 475 367)
68 510 733

761 366
10 534 200

-

-

-
(10 475 367)

-
-
-
-

-

-

-
-
-
-

-
(6 909 863)

Constructions in 
progress Total

71 611 867

820 199

820 199

67 732 8782 188 260  
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Constructions in 
progress Total

Total accumulated depreciation and write-offs (12 419 438) (11 841 816) (4 382 122) (13 895 408) (42 538 784)
11 494 899 67 732 878Net carrying value 32 251 902 12 791 129 9 006 689

25 390 307 110 271 663
As at 31 December 2005 
Gross carrying value 44 671 340 24 632 945 13 388 811 2 188 260

11 914 827Net carrying value 34 758 946 14 286 345 6 730 416
(8 900 280)Total accumulated depreciation and write-offs (8 738 643) (7 529 101) (2 625 680) -

820 199

2 188 260

820 199

68 510 733
(27 793 703)

-

96 304 436

Table No. 2

As at 1 January 2005 

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 (continued)

Land, buildings 
and structures

Machinery and 
equipment Means of transport Other fixed assets

Gross carrying value 43 497 589 21 815 446 9 356 096 20 815 106

 
 

 
The Company did not make revaluation write-offs for permanent impairment of tangible fixed assets. 
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NOTE NO 4  
ANALYSIS OF RATIONALES INDICATING POSSIBILITY OF IMPAIREMENT OF VALUE OF ASSETS 

Pursuant to IAS no 36, as at the balance-sheet date the Company evaluated whether there are any 
rationales indicating possible impairment of value of assets elements.   
 
The following rationales were assessed: 

 impairment of market value – during the reporting period there was no impairment of market value 
of assets that would be higher than a regular loss connected with timing and usufruct noted, 

 assessment of the environment – within the examined period there were no significant or 
disadvantageous changes for the Company concerning technology, market, economic or legal 
environment where the entity functions and operates, 

 market factors – within the examined period there was no increase in interest rates or other 
market return rates from investments that would influence the discount rate applied for calculation 
of  the useable value of the examined assets and reducing their recoverable amount,   

 accounting factors – balance-sheet value of the Company’s net assets is lower than value of their 
market capitalization, 

 usability factors – there are no grounds or evidence that the assets have been obsolete or 
damaged, 

 functionality factors – during the period there were no, and it is very likely that in the near future 
there will be no significant or disadvantageous changes for the Company concerning the range or 
the way of using the assets or, as expected, will be used. The cessation of use of certain fixed 
assets, as well as any plans to cease or restructure operations which includes these elements 
was not noted or considered. No attempt  was made either to dispose of the given assets before 
the previously foreseen time or to change the assessment of time of their usage, 

 economic factors – there is no evidence that economic results achieved by the elements are or 
will be worse than expected in the future, 

 investment factors – cash flows spent on the acquisition of the assets are not significantly higher 
than the amounts that were originally assumed in the budget,  

 operational factors – actual net cash flows and operational profit connected with the assets is 
equal to the amount assumed in the budget,  

 financial factors – after resuming the results of the examined period and the future results 
assumed in the budget, there were no net cash outflows that connected with certain assets. 

NOTE NO 5  
INVESTMENT REAL ESTATE 

The Company has no investment real estate as at the balance-sheet date. 

NOTE NO 6  
INVESTMENTS IN RELATED UNDERTAKINGS  

The Company has no investments in related undertakings as at the balance-sheet date. 

NOTE NO 7  
PARTICIPATION IN JOINT-VENTURES 

The Company did not participate in any joint-ventures. 

NOTE NO 8  
FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Financial assets include trade receivables, other receivables and cash and its equivalents.   
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Due to the fact that the exposure of the Company to risks related to changes of interest rates, fluctuations 
of exchange rates of currencies, as well as changes in goods prices is minor, there are no hedging 
instruments applied. 

NOTE NO 9  
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES 

Information concerning long-term receivables was presented in table no 3. 
 

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

555 759
555 759Security deposits paid due to agreements on depot rental 

as at as at

Table No. 3

189 159
189 159

 

NOTE NO 10  
INVENTORIES 

Information concerning inventories was presented in table no 4 and 5. 
 

Total stocks, including:

-

- carrying value of inventories being a security for liabilities 20 200 000

-

1 935 958

INVENTORIES STRUCTURE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

113 581 580
146 259

6 532 713

Table No. 4

110 219 039Traded goods
Materials
Advances for deliveries

120 260 552

125 765

as at as at

-

112 280 762

- carrying value of inventories disclosed at fair value less costs of sale

 
 

Revaluation write-offs on inventories recorded as a cost in the period (18 515) (807 936)
Revaluation write-off on inventories reversed in the period 2 685 748

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

Value of inventories recorded as a cost in the period (1 456 655 458) (1 328 498 039)

1 295 769

as at as at

Table No. 5

INVENTORIES IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 
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NOTE NO 11  
CONSTRUCTON AGREEMENTS 

The Company had not entered into any construction agreements. 

NOTE NO 12  
TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Information concerning trade receivables and other receivables was presented in table no 6. 
 

as at as at

26 144 302

(901 970)
1 053 7432 706 467

Table No. 6

40 132 743
20 378 727

Trade receivables
Additional revenues

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

36 889 803

(274 806) (189 902)

10 256 752Credit sales 19 023 754

41 186 486

Other receivables 627 374 842 588

Total receivables, including: 39 596 270
Allowance for other bad debts

ABC marketing fees 819 700 980 530

Receivables due to employees 169 437 136 873

Other trade receivables 655 277 651 702

-
264 184

(986 228)
Other receivables

Settlement of VAT 232 529

Allowance for trade bad debts

Receivables due to insurance 1 951 933

- long-term - -
41 186 486- short-term 39 596 270

 

NOTE NO 13  
SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME 

525 128

81 853
Rents 1 553 965 26 784
Advertising folders 15 614

Other prepayments 518 698

333 867
Licences for selling alcohol 332 129 232 038
Bonuses for customers due to promotional actions 12 355

2 432 762 1 199 669

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

as at as at

Table No. 7

SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 
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NOTE NO 14  
ISSUED CAPITAL 

Information concerning issued capital was presented in table no 8 and 9. 
 

Share capital 127 742 000 127 742 000

Number of shares 127 742 000 127 742 000
Par value of a share (PLN / share) 1 1

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004
as at as at

Table No. 8

SHARE CAPITAL AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 

 
 
As at the 31st December 2005, the issued capital consists of 127,742,000 series A bearer shares of a 
nominal value of 1 PLN each. 
 

Share capital at the end of the period

CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

for the period

Issued share capital - in-kind contribution - 5 853 000

127 742 000 127 742 000
Increase of share capital in the period - -

Table No. 9

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

121 889 000
5 853 000

for the period

Share capital at the beginning of the period
Increase of share capital in the period -

127 742 000

 

NOTE NO 15  
OTHER EQUITY 

Information concerning other equity was presented in table no 10. 
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Table No. 10

CHANGES TO OTHER CAPITAL IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

Decrease in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2004 -

Distribution of financial result 14 262 994

-

Incentive scheme valuation 518 729

14 782 302
-

As at 31 December 2005 14 782 302

Supplementary 
capital Total

As at 1 January 2004 222 222

357
Increase in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2004 357 357

Excess of the issued number of shares and made in-kind contribution 357

579

As at 31 December 2004 579 579

As at 1 January 2005 579
Increase in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2005 14 781 723

518 729

14 781 723
14 262 994

Decrease in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2005 -

 
 
 

NOTE NO 16  
OWN EQUITY 

Information concerning own shares options was presented in table no 11. 
 

OPTIONS FOR OWN SHARES IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 

Number of options

Weighted average 
performance 

prices
(PLN/share)

Exercised in the reporting period -

Existing at the beginning of the reporting period -

Table No. 11

Allotted in the reporting period 3 193 550 0,60
Redeemed in the reporting period - 0,00

Possible to exercise at the end of the period - 0,00

Expired in the reporting period - 0,00
Existing at the end of the reporting period 3 193 550 0,60

0,00

0,00

 
 
On the basis of the Resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting number 3 dated 14 September 2004 
with regard to the issue of priority rights bonds, conditional increase of the share capital and exclusion of 
pre-emptive rights of current shareholders of the Company, with the amendments approved by Resolution 
no 2 dated 2 November 2004 and Resolution no 1 dated 25 November 2004, a decision concerning issue 
of Series B and Series C shares within the Motivational Program for the management, executives and 
persons with significant meaning to the operations of Eurocash S.A. 
 
The Company will issue registered bonds of the total number of 255,484 in the two following series: 
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 127,742 Series A registered bonds of a nominal value of 1 grosz each, with the right to subscribe 
ordinary bearer series B shares with the priority right before the current shareholders of the 
Company, and   

 127,742 Series B registered bonds of a nominal value of 1 grosz each, with the right to subscribe 
ordinary bearer series C shares with the priority right before the current shareholders of the 
Company.  

 
The bonds are no-interest bonds. 
The issue price will be equaled to the nominal value of the bonds. 
One Series A bond gives the priority right to subscribe for and acquire 25 series B shares. 
One Series B bond gives the priority right to subscribe for and acquire 25 series C shares. 
 
The Company valued the Motivational Program for the Series A bonds for PLN 1,921 mln. This amount will 
be amortised commencing from 1st January 2005 for the period of 3 years. 
The share options included in the series B bonds will be valued as of 1st January 2006 and will be 
amortised also for a period of 3 years. 
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NOTE NO 17  
PROVISIONS 

Information concerning provisions was presented in table no 12 and 13. 
 
 

- short-term
- long-term - --

CHANGES IN PROVISIONS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

Provision for 
bonuses

Provision for 
agency depot 
commissions

Provision for costs 
of advertising Provision for rents

(387 486)(3 000 000) (228 335) (333 867)
(91 133) (138 285)

(2 000 000) (655 002) (425 000) (525 772)

Table No. 12

(2 000 000) (655 002) (425 000) (525 772)
-

(2 143 000) (396 786) (522 529) (20 236)

-

(3 000 000) (228 335) (333 867) (387 486)

(2 188 658)Provisions as at 1 January 2004

Provisions as at 31 December 2004

Provisions as at 1 January 2005

Provisions as at 30 June 2005, including:

Provision for 
unused paid 

leaves

(1 912 469)

(1 912 469)

(1 812 653)
(1 812 653)

Increase in provisions - - (426 667)
Decrease in provisions 99 816 1 000 000 - - -

Increase in provisions (72 125) (3 716 620) (13 663 919) (616 217) (4 001 085)
Decrease in provisions 348 314 2 859 620 13 832 370 804 879 3 633 835

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Financial statements of  EUROCASH S.A. (TRANSLATION ONLY) 

Financial statements period: 01.01-31.12.2005 Reporting currency: Polish zloty (PLN) 

Level of round-offs: All amounts are expressed in Polish zloty  (unless indicated otherwise) 

 

 41/78

 

- -
- short-term (400 000)
- long-term - - -

(400 075) (209 876)
(8 354 639) (14 783 017)
(8 354 639) (14 783 017)

Provisions as at 31 December 2005, including: (400 000) (400 075) (209 876)

(258 557) (3 637 913)
- (4 716 825)

(10 228 505)
Increase in provisions (188 000) (142 197)

Provisions as at 1 January 2005 (212 000) (257 879)

(3 637 913) (10 228 505)Provisions as at 31 December 2004 (212 000) (257 879) (258 557)

(2 716 884) (8 529 021)Provisions as at 1 January 2004 (171 110)

PROVISIONS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 (continued)

Provision for costs 
of transport

Provision for 
media

Provision for 
postal and 

telecommunicatio
n costs Other provisions Total

3 324 139 2 953 599

(217 858) (151 961)

Table No. 12

16 451 422 47 579 040
Increase in provisions (3 411 751) (3 364 160) (3 060 195) (17 372 452) (49 278 523)
Decrease in provisions 3 370 861

(5 703 108)
Decrease in provisions - - 48 680 - 1 148 496
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(1 024 220) (829 801)

(209 876)

(2 386 950) (1 912 430)

(178 286)

(2 000 000) (3 000 000)

(387 486)

(1 812 653)Provision for unused paid leaves

as at as at

Table No. 13

Provision for postal and telecommunication costs

(1 912 469)

(258 557)

Provision due to current income tax (4 188 248) -

Provision for bonuses

PROVISIONS AS AT 31 December 2005 

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

Provision for costs of the National Fund for Rehabilitation of the Disabled 
[PFRON ] - -
Other provisions

(14 783 017) (10 228 505)

Provision for restructuring

Provision for agency depot commissions (655 002) (228 335)
Provision for non-trading costs (344 971) (272 292)

(400 075) (257 879)

Provision for costs of advertising (425 000) (333 867)
Provision for rents (525 772)

Provision for costs of advisory and audit services (229 090) (445 104)
(181 160)Provision for costs of monitoring and security

Provision for costs of transport (400 000) (212 000)
Provision for media

 

NOTE NO 18  
TRADE LIABILITIES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

Information concerning trade liabilities and other liabilities was presented in table no 14. 
 

- long-term 4 313 378 3 263 054
- short-term 246 739 176 210 983 200

Other liabilities 1 537 653 2 116 570
Total liabilities, including: 251 052 554 214 246 255

Current corporate income tax - 500 687
Personal income tax 578 711 488 219

Social insurance 1 279 564 1 045 234
Fixed assets 940 478 455 502

Settlement of VAT 2 083 926 1 231 216
Payroll 1 721 505 1 662 381

Other liabilities 14 198 467 11 869 134
Financial lease 6 056 630 4 369 326

Supplies of traded goods 231 456 865 198 196 028
Transport services 5 397 222 4 181 092

Table No. 14

TRADE LIABILITIES AND OTHER LIABILITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

as at as at

Trade liabilities 236 854 087 202 377 121
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NOTE NO 19  
LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

There were no loans and borrowings as at the balance-sheet date. 
 

NOTE NO 20  
CONDITIONAL LEASING PAYMENTS 

There were no conditional leasing payments disclosed as costs during the period from 1st January 2005 to 
31st December 2005. 
 

NOTE NO 21  
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Information concerning other financial liabilities was presented in table no 15 
 
 

4 369 3266 056 630Liabilities under financial lease agreements

as at as at

Table No. 15
OTHER SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

4 313 378 3 263 054
- short-term 1 743 252 1 106 272

6 056 630 4 369 326

- long-term
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NOTE NO 22  
LEASING 

FINANCIAL LEASE 
 
Specification of the leased assets is presented in table no 16. 
 

- 1 100 000Lease - company cars, agreement NIVETTE 21/2003 - - 1 100 000

Means of transport Other fixed assets Total

LEASED OBJECTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 

Land, buildings 
and structures

Machinery and 
equipment

Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00062/2005 - -

Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00007/2005

Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00037/2005

- -

-

8 488 898
Lease - company forklifts, agreement Linde Material Handling - - 1 949 581

Net carrying value of leased objects - 4 269 954 4 218 944
1 949 581

- 125 410

Table No. 16

Per groups of assets

-

Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00039/2005
Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00061/2005 - - 147 492 -

125 410

Lease - computer equipment, agreement HEWLETT PACKARD - 4 269 954

Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00017/2005 - -

Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00011/2005 - -

4 269 954
67 188 - 67 188

-

- -

50 957 -
152 870

147 492

129 500 - 129 500
73 295 - 73 295

152 870

-
- -

-

Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00014/2005 - -
Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00032/2005 - - 167 869

-

-Lease - company cars, agreement WBK ZA2/00031/2005 - - 101 913

 
 
 
 
A detailed list of lease agreements is presented in table no 17. 
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9

PLN 07.2008
10

PLN 08.2008
11

PLN 12.2008 92 264

286 256

128 876

60 087

2 875 854

04.2008

04.2008

13 288

03.2007

17 621

2 044 076

47 815

54 675

30 195

87 861

108 265 40 144 68 122

33 186

PLN

25 228

40 020 76 814

42 345 89 628

41 536

-

WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

ZA2/00061/
2005

147 492

Nivette Fleet 
Management

21/2003

1 100 000 - PLN

- PLN

LEASE AGREEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

Table No. 17

No. Financing party
Agreement 

No.

Agreement 
completion 

term
Initial value
(currency)Initial value Currency

ZA/00007/2
005

67 188

Value of liabilities as at 31 December 2005

831 77803.2009

Total Short-term Long-term

84 592370 848

1

WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

PLN

WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

ZA2/00037/
2005

129 500

-

3

Hewlett-Packard 
Polska Sp. z o.o.

04PL-
0003A

2

18 559

4 269 954

36 612

4 WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

ZA/00011/2
005

152 870
5 WBK Leasing 

S.A. Poznań
ZA/00017/2

005
50 957 - PLN 06.2008 38 516

6 WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

ZA/00014/2
005

152 870 - PLN 05.2008 116 833
7 WBK Leasing 

S.A. Poznań
ZA/00032/2

005
167 869 - PLN 06.2008 131 973

PLN 06.2008 94 348

8 WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

ZA/00031/2
005

101 913 52 812

WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

ZA2/00039/
2005

73 295 41 528

-
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Table no 17 
LEASING AGREEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2005 ROKU (continued)  

 
12

PLN 12.2008
13 PLN 11.2010

1 743 252 4 313 378

1 559 782
31 144

1 949 581 1 870 546
124 807 93 662125 410

8 488 898 6 056 630

310 763

WBK Leasing 
S.A. Poznań

ZA2/00062/
2005

Linde Material LTR+FSA 

 
 
 
 
 

 31.12.2005  31.12.2005  31.12.2004

Table No. 18

LIABILITIES UNDER FINANCIAL LEASE AGREEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

1 120 188
Payable in the period from 1 year to 5 years

as at

Future minimum fees due to financial lease agreements

3 249 138

as at

minimum fees
current value of 

minimum fees minimum fees
current value of 

minimum fees

as at as at
 31.12.2004

Payable within 1 year 2 155 837

X

1 417 001

701 838

3 120 326 2 691 952 3 654 163
1 751 588

- -
Total future minimum fees due to financial lease agreements 5 276 163 4 443 540 5 071 164 4 369 326

Payable in the period of over 5 years - -

X
Current value of minimum fees under financial lease agreements 4 443 540 4 443 540 4 369 326 4 369 326

Financial costs 832 623
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OPERATING LEASE 
Pursuant to IAS no 32 the Company recognized operating lease agreements for tenancy and lease of 
premises, on the basis of which, in return for a fee or a series of fees, the lessor transfers to the lessee the 
right to use a particular item of assets for an agreed period of time without transfer of risks and benefits 
resulting from being an owner of the particular asset. 
 
The indicated agreements concern lease and tenancy of space in order to conduct commercial activities in 
there, with regard to the sale of goods, tobacco products, alcoholic beverages, domestic detergents and 
industrial goods. Moreover, one of the agreements concerns the usage of the warehouse space for 
logistics and transportation purposes and the office space for administration needs of employees of the 
headquarters. 
 
In the case of the agreements concerning trading premises, the price was established per one square 
meter. Valorization of the prices in conducted on the basis of an annual level of inflation announced by the 
Main Statistical Office, the changes of the real estate taxes, the changes of the fees for perpetual usufruct 
and the changes of local fees concerning the leased or tenanted real estate. The payment is the product of 
the square meters of the area and the price per square meter. 
In the event of the tenancy of the warehouse and office space, regarding the distribution center in 
Komorniki, there were two fixed monthly rental fees established. The first one applies to the period of the 
first eight years and the following one to the period of the following eight years. 
The terms and conditions concerning the period of the agreements being in force and their terminations 
provide that in the event that within the period of 12 months before the expiry of a particular agreement one 
of the parties does not notify the other of his decision not to prolong the agreement, the agreement shall be 
prolonged for a period analogical to the period of the main agreement. 
 
The specificity of the minimal fees for the operation lease is presented in table no 19. 
 

Table No. 19
LIABILITIES UNDER OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

as at as at
31.12.2005 31.12.2004

minimum fees minimum fees

Future minimum fees due to operating lease agreements

Payable within 1 year 17 131 053 17 887 622
Payable in the period from 1 year to 5 years 59 620 237 67 143 345
Payable in the period of over 5 years 25 445 659 35 053 603
Total future minimum fees due to operating lease agreements 102 196 948 120 084 571

 
 

NOTE NO 23  
INCOME TAX 

Specification of income tax for the reporting period is presented in table no 20. 
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Table No. 20

Profit and loss account

Statement on changes in equity

Tax burden recorded in profit and loss account (9 117 043) (16 107 353)

Due to creation and reversal of temporary differences (3 139 768) (10 738 235)

Current income tax - -
Current income tax due to exchange gains/losses on a loan -

- -

Financial benefit recognised in equity - -

Net deferred income tax on security for cash flows settled during the 
financial year - -

Net loss due to revaluation of security for cash flows - -

Net deferred income tax on financial assets available for sale sold during 
the financial year - -

Unrealised gains due to financial assets available for sale - -

Net deferred income tax recognised in capital reserve at first application of 
IAS 39

Deferred income tax - -

-

Due to income tax rate reduction - -

INCOME TAX FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 (main components)

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

for the period for the period 

(5 977 275) (5 369 118)
Current income tax burden (5 977 275) (5 369 118)

Current income tax

Adjustment of prior years on current income tax - -
Deferred income tax (3 139 768) (10 738 235)
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NOTE NO 24  
DEFERRED INCOME TAX 

Deferred income tax is presented in the table no 21. 
 

(18 585)

211 868

- 35 783 (35 783) (1 588)

690 309 -- amortisation of know-how 1 035 464 345 155

- adjustment on revaluation write-off on inventories - 77 247 (77 247) (6 108)

for the period

(214 152)

Balance sheet Profit and loss account

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004
from 01.01.2005 

to 31.12.2005
from 01.01.2004 

to 31.12.2004

as at as at

- adjustment to allowance for bad debts

- amortisation of trade marks 117 230 953 405 (836 175)

Gross deferred income tax provision 4 259 640 2 984 830 1 274 810 185 587

Table No. 21

DEFERRED INCOME TAX IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

Deferred income tax provision

for the period

- non-invoiced additional revenues 1 359 089 1 573 241

- exchange rates 25 559 - 25 559
- correction of amortization of trade mark with indefinite period of using 
- change the rate of amortisation of know-how 345 155

-
-
-

1 377 144
345 155

1 377 144
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 31.12.2004
from 01.01.2005 

to 31.12.2005
from 01.01.2004 

to 31.12.2004

Table No. 21

DEFERRED INCOME TAX IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005 (continued)

Balance sheet Profit and loss account
as at as at for the period for the period

 31.12.2005

- valuation of executive options recognised in equity - - (60 839) -
- deferment of rebates 1 287 395 1 257 013 (30 382) (2 942)

18 965

(81 067)

(27 017)

-- provision for payroll 566 077 - (566 077)
-

- provision for bonuses 380 000 570 000 190 000 88 896
- provision for paid leaves 344 404 363 369

(21 956)
- provision for costs of transport 76 000 40 280 (35 720) (12 320)
- provision for agency depot commissions 124 450 43 384

50 108

- provision for postal and telecommunication costs 39 876 49 126 9 249

- allowance for bad debts 237 536 141 669 (95 868)

- other provisions

(1 053 217)

Deferred income tax burden X X 234 996 (867 629)

Gross deferred income tax assets 5 363 095 4 384 119 (1 039 814)

X
Net deferred income tax assets 1 103 455 1 399 289 X X
Net deferred income tax provision - - X

(17 156)

Deferred income tax assets

(24 231)- provision for costs of media 76 014 48 997

(1 174 813)
61 197- revaluation write-off on inventories 789 270 771 748 (17 521)

(343 538)1 098 5341 442 071
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NOTE NO 25  
OTHER LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME 
Other long-term prepayments and accrued income were presented in table no 22. 
 

10 174378 495Rents

as at as at

165 496
396 256 175 670

Other prepayments 17 762

 31.12.2004

Table No. 22

OTHER LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005

 

NOTE NO 26  
SALES REVENUES GENERATED IN THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Sales revenues were presented in table no 23. 
 

1 640 908 755Sales of traded goods

for the period for the period

Table No. 23

Provision of services 46 228 261
Total net sales 1 687 137 016 1 526 531 924

1 496 144 114
30 387 810

NET SALES IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

 

NOTE NO 27  
COSTS BY CATEGORIES 

Costs by categories are presented in table no 24. 
 

Costs of general management (54 894 032) (44 194 464)
Costs of sales (124 402 701) (110 394 893)

Costs by nature (179 296 733) (154 589 357)

including:

Other costs by nature

Fees and taxes

Materials and power
Amortisation

(9 090 232) (11 379 802)
Social insurance and other benefits (10 241 350) (8 187 730)

(2 441 498) (2 171 754)
Payroll (49 931 389) (43 137 304)

(10 812 719) (9 210 600)
Third party services (71 235 099) (62 904 628)

(25 544 446) (17 597 539)

Table No. 24

COSTS BY NATURE IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

for the period for the period

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

 



Financial statements of  EUROCASH S.A. (TRANSLATION ONLY) 

Financial statements period: 01.01-31.12.2005 Reporting currency: Polish zloty (PLN) 

Level of round-offs: All amounts are expressed in Polish zloty  (unless indicated otherwise) 

 

 52/78

NOTE NO 28  
OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 

Other operating income and expenses are presented in table no 25. 
 

Liquidation of damaged and expired goods

Other operating costs

Net other operating revenues (costs) (6 533 087) (12 249 619)
Other operating costs (5 430 381) (1 374 629)

(2 237 105) (2 367 537)
Inventory shortages (3 573 152) (3 135 081)

(11 240 638) (13 834 012)
Licence fees - (6 956 765)

Compensation received 236 930 193 823

Other operating revenues 2 502 147 260 932
Other sales 1 264 413 588 699

Other operating revenues 4 707 550 1 584 393
Sub-lease of premises 704 061 540 938

Table No. 25

OTHER OPERATING REVENUES AND COSTS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2005

for the period for the period

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

 

NOTE NO 29  
FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 

Financial income and expenses were presented in table no 26. 
 

(3 685 139)
(688 918)

(926 211)

2 027 451 3 635 193

Net financial revenues (costs) (2 968 547)
Other financial costs (392 409)
Exchange losses (77 845) (123 896)
Bank fees (867 729)

(5 491 153) (7 932 666)
Other financial revenues 261 623 379 212

233 532 233 121
Interest

Interest (4 153 169) (6 193 641)
Financial costs

Financial revenues 2 522 606

Table No. 26

FINANCIAL REVENUES AND COSTS IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

4 247 527

for the period for the period

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

Exchange gains

 
Gains (losses) on exchange rates differences (net) – are presented in table no 27. 
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-

-
Costs of sold products, traded goods and materials - -

Net sales -

-

Total 155 686 109 225

Financial revenues 233 532 233 121
Financial costs (77 845) (123 896)

Costs of general management -

NET EXCHANGE GAINS/LOSSES IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

Costs of sale -

for the period

Table No. 27

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

for the period

 
 

NOTE NO 30  
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

During the period from 01.01.2005 to 31.12.2005 the Company did not discontinue any form of its 
economic operations and it does not plan any of such steps in the subsequent financial year. 

NOTE NO 31  
PROFIT PER ONE SHARE 

Data concerning profit per one share was presented in table no 28. 
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Earnings

Earnings on continued operations disclosed for the needs of calculating 
diluted earnings per share, upon excluding the result on discontinued 
operations 32 566 148 22 140 651

Effect of dilution of the number of ordinary shares:
Interest on bonds convertible into shares (after tax) - -

Exclusion of loss on discontinued operations - -

32 566 148 22 140 651
Net earnings on continued operations, upon excluding the result on 
discontinued operations

Net earnings of a given year to be distributed among shareholders 32 566 148 22 140 651

Continued operations

Bonds convertible into shares 6 387 100 1 889 882

134 129 100 128 749 504
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (for the needs of calculating 
diluted earnings per share)

Effect of dilution of a potential number of ordinary shares:
Share options - -

Number of issued shares

Weighted average number of shares disclosed for the needs of calculating 
diluted earnings per share 127 742 000 126 859 622

Interest on bonds convertible into shares (after tax) - -

Earnings disclosed for the needs of calculating diluted earnings per share 32 566 148 22 140 651

Net earnings of a given year for the purpose of calculating earnings per share 
for distribution among shareholders 32 566 148 22 140 651

Effect of dilution of ordinary shares:

EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

for the period for the period

Table No. 28

 
 
Calculation of average weighted number of shares 
Entire year 2005  
(127,742,000 X 365 days) / 365 days = 127,742,000 
Entire year 2004 
 (121,889,000 X 52 days + 127,086,000 X 27 days + 127,742,000 X 286 days) / 365 days = 126,859,622 
 
Calculation of average weighted diluted number of shares 
Entire year 2005  
 (134,129,100 X 365 dni) / 365 dni = 134,129,100 
Entire year 2004 
 (121,889,000 X 52 days + 127,086,000 X 27 days + 127,742,000 X 178 days + 134,129,100 X 108 days) / 
365 days = 128,749,504 
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Description of factors causing dilution of the number of shares 
On the basis of the Resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting number 3 dated 14 September 2004 
with regard to the issue of priority rights bonds, conditional increase of the share capital and exclusion of 
pre-emptive rights of current shareholders of the Company, with the amendments approved by Resolution 
no 2 dated 2 November 2004 and Resolution no 1 dated 25 November 2004, a decision concerning issue 
of Series B and Series C shares within the Motivational Program for the management, executives and 
persons with significant meaning to the operations of Eurocash S.A. was adopted. 

NOTE NO 32  
BOOK VALUE PER ONE SHARE 

The book value per one share was calculated as the quotient of the book value and the number of shares 
as at the end of the reporting period.  
 

134 129 100

Book value per share 1,38 1,12
Diluted book value per share

Diluted number of shares

1,31

134 129 100
127 742 000Number of shares 127 742 000

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

175 749 433

1,06

as at as at

Table No. 29

142 664 556Book value

 

NOTE NO 33  
MERGER OF ENTITIES 

No mergers of entities took place during the reporting period. 

NOTE NO 34  
INFORMATION ON RELATED UNDERTAKINGS 

No transactions were conducted with related undertakings during the reporting period. 
 
Information on the total amount of remuneration, bonuses and awards, as well as other benefits paid or 
payable to the Management Board and Supervisory Board during the period from 01.01.2005 to 
31.12.2005 was presented in the table below. 
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729 711
474 711

15 439 403 585
5 806 605 806

Geoffrey Francis Eric Crossley 98 639 -

3 113 146

655 439

839 938

9 711

Table No. 30

15 439

720 000Rui Amaral 9 711

Basic salary

REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD IN THE 
PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

Other benefits Total

Remuneration of Management Board members

300 000 1 139 938Luis Amaral

Katarzyna Kopaczewska
Arnaldo Guerreiro
Pedro Martinho 600 000

465 000
640 000

Ryszard Majer 388 146

- 96 265Eduardo Aguinaga de Moraes 96 265

896 043

98 639

4 009 189

Remuneration of Supervisory Board memebrs

Joao Borges de Assuncao 97 293 - 97 293
Ryszard Wojnowski 35 752 - 35 752
Janusz Lisowski 35 752 - 35 752

Antonio Jose Santos Silva Casanova 63 075 - 63 075
489 275 - 489 275

Ronaldo Coelho de Magalhaes 62 500 - 62 500

 
 

NOTE NO 35  
EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION 

 

Information on the level of employment as at 31.12.2005 is presented in table no 31. 
 

Number of full-time jobs 1 492 1 224
Number of employees 1 594 1 438

Table No. 31

HEADCOUNT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

as at as at

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004

 
Information on the structure of employment as at 31.12.2005 is presented in table no 32. 
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Number of full-time jobs 1 324 168 1 492
Number of employees 1 424 170 1 594

Table No. 32

STRUCTURE OF EMPLOYMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 

Head office Total

Depots and 
distribution 

centres

 
Information on employment rotations at 31.12.2005 is presented in table no 33. 
 

156 82

for the period for the period

Number of employees dismissed (532) (178)
Number of employees hired 688 260

Table No. 33

ROTATION OF PERSONNEL IN THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2005

from 01.01.2005 
to 31.12.2005

from 01.01.2004 
to 31.12.2004

 
 

NOTE NO 36  
INFORMATION ON OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS  

The value of contingencies due to banking guaranties equaled PLN 7,604,205 as at 31.12.2005. A detailed 
list is presented in table no 34. 
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES DUE TO GRANTED BANK GUARANTEES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005

 31.12.2005  31.12.2004No.

7 Ministry of Finance

Hewlett Packard

2

3

1

Ministry of Finance

5

4

Customs Chamber

180 000 -

700 000

gwarancja wypłaty nagród w loterii 
"Pewniak"

PLN

PLN

Title

3 386 073

as at

PLN

płatności z tytułu leasingu sprzętu 
komputerowego

EUR*

-

ELTA płatności z tytułu wynajmu hurtowni 
Suwałki

TULIPAN
371 322

płatności z tytułu wynajmu centrum 
dystrybucyjnego Komorniki

as at

4 427 942

CurrencyGuarantee for 

Table No. 34

płatności z tytułu dostaw towarów
3 666 810 -

6

* converted at a rate of NBP as 31.12.2005 = 3,8598

- 1 395 778

7 604 205

ZPT Warszawa

6 532 720

gwarancja wypłaty nagród w loterii 
"Tygodniowe kupowanie wielkie 
wygrywanie"

PLN

- 9 000

płatności celne
-

PLN

PLN

 
NOTE NO 37 

IMPORTANT EVENTS BEFORE THE BALANCE-SHEET DATE 

CONCLUSION OF A CONDITIONAL AGREEMENT FOR THE PURCHASE OF 100% SHARES OF 
KDWT S.A. 
On 15 December 2005, Eurocash S.A. entered into a conditional agreement with KDWT S.A. and its 
shareholders for the purchase of 100% shares of the company. KDWT S.A. is a joint-stock company with 
its registered office in Poznań at ul. Towarowa 35, entered in the National Court Register under the 
number KRS0000040385. KDWT operates as a distributor of tobacco products with the second-largest 
market share (9%) in Poland. In 2005, the Company recorded sales revenues of PLN 1.5 billion and a net 
profit of over PLN 8 million. 
 
Potential benefits of entering into the agreement 
The above transaction shall contribute to the creation of a group with the second-largest sales value, 
involved in the wholesale distribution of fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) in Poland. In 2004, the total 
revenues of KDWT and Eurocash amounted to over PLN 3.0 billion, and the total share of KDWT and 
Eurocash in the distribution market of tobacco products equaled 10%. 
The acqusition of the KDWT shares is a part of the Eurocash strategy, aimed at the selective acquisition of 
the FMCG wholesale stores and the introduction of new wholesale formats (also by taking over other 
entities) in order to provide customers with a comprehensive offer and at the same time to achieve 
economies of scale and to make better use of logistics potential. In the opinion of the Management Board 
of Eurocash, this transaction will contribute to speeding up the development and to making better use of 
the potential of both companies.  
The essential element of the transaction, which in the opinion of the Management Board of Eurocash shall 
contribute to an earlier achievement of synergy effects, is to ensure an active participation of current 
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members of the Management Board and the key managerial staff of KDWT in the management and 
development of operational activities of KDWT. 
The investment will be wholly financed by own funds and by current cash flows from the operational 
activities of Eurocash.  
According to the Management Board of Eurocash, the investment will not cause any delays in the planned 
organic development of a discount network of Cash & Carry. 
 
Key provisions of the agreement 
As per the agreement, the shares shall be sold by KDWT (the Seller) to Eurocash (the Buyer) under this 
agreement upon issue of multiple share certificates to the Buyer, following the fulfillment or resignation by 
Eurocash from the following conditions precedent: 

 
a) the consent of the President of the Office of Competition and Consumer Protection shall consent to 

the disposal of shares, will be obtained, 
b) the Seller shall submit to the Buyer certificates issued by (i) the Head of the Tax Office relevant for 

the Company and (ii) the local authorities relevant for collecting the real estate tax from the 
Company, confirming that the Company is not in arrears with the payment of taxes as of the date of 
issue of the certificates, provided that the application for issue of such certificate is made not earlier 
than the application for issue of the consent referred to in point (a) hereinabove, 

c) the Seller shall submit to the Buyer certificates issued by an organisational unit of the Social 
Insurance Institution relevant for the Company, confirming that the Company is not in arrears with 
the payment of contributions to the Social Insurance Institution as of the date of issue of the 
certificate, provided that the application for issue of such certificate is made not earlier than the 
application for issue of the consent referred to in point (a) hereinabove, 

d) the Supervisory Board of Eurocash shall consent to the disposal of shares, 
e) the Seller shall cause the Company (i) to amend the concluded agency agreements so that the 

securities for the Company’s claims under the previous agreements remain effective, or (ii) to 
establish new securities for the Company’s claims as provided for in the agency agreements.  

 
The Seller undertakes not to raise the objection referred to in Art. 341 § 4 of Commercial Companies’ 
Code in relation to the registration of the Buyer in the share register, and hereby waives any and all rights 
it may be entitled to in respect thereof. Since all shareholders shall enter into conditional agreements for  
the sale of shares to the Buyer as of the date of this agreement (as a result of which the Buyer shall 
acquire 100% of KDWT shares upon fulfillment of the conditions precedent), the Sellers hereby waive their 
pre-emptive rights with  respect to  the shares of all other shareholders. 
 
The Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer that: 
a) as of the date of this agreement the Seller has the full right and power to enter into and perform this 

agreement, and in particular there are no restrictions that could affect the sale of the shares to the 
Buyer; 

b) the Seller is the only owner of its shares. The shares have been duly issued by the Company; 
c) the shares owned by the Seller are neither subject to transfer by way of security, any lien or any 

rights of third parties, nor the Seller is obliged to dispose of the rights to the shares or to limit such 
rights on any other grounds. 

 
The Buyer hereby represents and warrants to the Seller that as of the date of this agreement it has the full 
right and power to enter into and perform it. 
 
The Parties agree that in the period between the date of this agreement and the date of issue of multiple 
share certificates to the Buyer, the Seller shall ensure that: 
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a) the enterprise and operations of the Company are carried out in accordance with the adopted and 
the best operational practice and also in accordance with the current practice and market conditions;  

b) neither the Articles of Incorporation of the Company are amended nor the Company issues any 
securities, inclusive of debt instruments; 

c) the remuneration of the Company’s employees is not raised. 
 
In the interim period, the Parties shall abstain from any actions that could make their representations and  
warranties specified in this agreement untrue or unreliable at the date of fulfillment of the conditions. 
 
The Seller shall not be liable for any and all obligations in respect of any claims of third parties, if such 
obligations or claims have been established before the date of issue of multiple share certificates to the 
Buyer (even if they were not due by that date). Should the Buyer incur any costs in respect of such 
obligations or claims, the Seller shall reimburse the incurred costs to the Buyer not later than within seven 
days from the date of receipt of a notice from the Buyer specifying the amount of such costs. The above 
provisions shall apply to obligations or claims not disclosed under this agreement. However, in relation to 
(i) obligations or claims under public law (in particular in respect of taxes) – irrespective of the value of 
such claim or obligation; (ii) to other obligations or claims – if such obligations or claims exceed the total 
amount of PLN 125,000 (in words: one hundred twenty-five thousand zloty), the Seller shall reimburse to 
the Buyer the amount of the surplus above the amount referred to hereinabove. 
The Parties agree that the Seller shall assume no liability if the claim raised by a third party has been 
barred under the applicable laws regulating the time limitation of claims of such kind, and that the Buyer 
may raise a claim of time limitation to legal effect.  
The Seller shall not be liable for any and all obligations or claims raised against the Company after the date 
of issue of multiple share certificates to the Buyer, if such obligations or claims have been established after 
such date (even if they were not due at that time). If it turns out that the Seller is obliged to satisfy such 
obligations or claims and if the Seller satisfies such obligations or claims upon prior written approval of the 
Buyer, the Buyer shall reimburse to the Seller the amount equal to the satisfied obligations and claims, not 
later than within 7 (in words: seven) days from the date of receipt of notice from the Seller specifying the 
requested amount and the grounds for payment. 
Each Party shall be liable for the correctness, truthfulness, completeness and the accuracy of its 
warranties and representations contained herein, regardless of whether the Party is to blame for the 
breach of warranties and representations. 

 

NOTE NO 38 
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE-SHEET DATE  

A. CONCLUSION OF A LETTER OF INTENT BETWEEN EUROCASH S.A. AND CARMENT S.A. 

On 21 January 2006, Eurocash S.A. entered into a letter of intent with Carment S.A. and its shareholders. 
Carment S.A. is a joint-stock company with its registered office in Krosno at ul. Żwirki i Wigury 6, entered in 
the National Court Register under the number KRS 0000237830. 
Carment operates as a wholesale distributor of FMCG products in the south-east of Poland. In addition, it 
has established a retail network of “Delikatesy Centrum”, comprising 193 stores (including: 162 franchise 
stores and 31 stores owned by Carment) as of the end of 2005. 
Carment carries out its operational activities from 3 distribution centers located in Krosno, Przemyśl and 
Gorlice and by a transfer warehouse in Sanok. 
According to the plans adopted by the Management Board of Carment in 2005, the Company shall record 
sales of PLN 360 million and a net profit of about PLN 3 million. 
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Potential benefits of entering into the agreement 
Entering into this transaction shall contribute to the dynamic growth of the franchise retail network of 
“Delikatesy Centrum” on the territory of Poland and also to strengthening the position of the Eurocash 
group. 
The potential future purchase of the Carment assets is a part of the Eurocash strategy, aimed at the 
selective acquisition of the FMCG wholesale stores and the introduction of new wholesale formats in order 
to provide the customers with a comprehensive offer and at the same time to achieve the economies of 
scale and to make a better use of logistics potential.  
According to the Management Board of Eurocash, the investment will not cause any delays in the planned 
organic development of a discount network of Cash & Carry. 
  
Key and important issues and provisions of the letter of intent 
In the course of the business negotiations the parties shall decide whether the subject of the potential 
agreement is the acqusition of the enterprise of Carment, its organised part, the selected elements of the 
assets of Carment, or alternatively 100% shares of Carment, if the Parties agree to it.  
Within the scope of the transaction shall fall all assets necessary to carry out the operations (in particular: 
real estate, rights and obligations under agreements concluded by Carment, intellectual property rights, 
inclusive of all intellectual property rights to the trademark of “Sieć Handlowa Delikatesy Centrum” owned 
by the Company FUH “Delikatesy Centrum” Sp. z o.o., etc.), excluding the receivables from the recipients 
of goods. Moreover, the transaction shall also include the goods, exclusive of the goods which are 
unsaleable, damaged or past their sell-by date. The transaction shall also cover business liabilities in the 
amount equal to the difference between the value of business liabilities towards the suppliers as of the 
date of entering into the transaction and the amount of receivables of Carment in respect of the payments 
from the recipients of goods as of the date of entering into the transaction, with the reservation that the 
difference between the value of goods within the scope of transaction and the amount of receivables of 
Carment in respect of the payments from the recipients of goods, increased by the cash, shall not differ 
from the level resulting from the current practice of Carment (i.e. in the period before the conclusion of the 
letter of intent). The amount of business liabilities to fall within the scope of the transaction shall be 
reduced by the value of goods which are unsaleable, damaged or past their sell-by date. Other business 
and non-business liabilities of Carment shall be outside the scope of the transaction. 
The employees of Carment will not be transferred to Eurocash. The Parties agree that, due to the 
continuation of the cooperation between some of the Shareholders who will act as agents of Eurocash, 
these employees shall be directly transferred, as per Art. 23 of Labor Code, from Carment to the Agent 
and -- upon the expiry of the agency agreement – from the Agent to Eurocash. If an employee does not 
consent to be transferred from Carment to the Agent’s company, Eurocash shall reimburse to Carment any 
costs incurred in respect of possible gratuities to be paid out to such employee upon the termination of the 
employment relation by such employee as per Art. 23 of Labor Code. The provision concerning the 
reimbursement to be made by Eurocash to Carment in respect of the costs of any potential gratuities shall 
also apply if it is the responsibility of Carment to pay them. The provision concerning the obligation of 
reimbursement of the costs of potential gratuities shall only apply to the gratuities paid out under the Act 
on special rules of terminating employment for reasons not attributable to employees, and the amount of 
such gratuities may not exceed the amounts provided for in the respective provisions of this Act. 
 
Eurocash shall take over current liabilities of Carment under bank loans, related to the subject of the 
transaction. 
The shareholders and Carment shall ensure that until the date of entering into an agreement  
(agreements) based on this letter of intent, Carment will carry out its operations according to the current 
practice; in particular no assets of Carment will be disposed, aside from those under the current practice. 
Eurocash shall assume any possible obligation of Carment to pay the contractual interest calculated by the 
suppliers of Carment in respect of reservation of the payment date longer than 30 days (Act on payment 
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dates in business transactions) or to pay the contractual interest calculated by the suppliers of Carment in 
respect of delay in payments (Art. 481 of Civil Code). 
The companies have jointly resolved that the managing staff employed in Carment shall continue its 

involvement in the current operations of Carment for the period of 36 months from the date of 
acquisition of the enterprise of Carment, its organised part or the selected assets of Carment by 
Eurocash. The cooperation mentioned hereabove shall be performed under the agency contract.  

 
The intention of Eurocash is to maintain at the same level or to improve the terms and conditions of 
supplies of goods to the stores included in the network of „Delikatesy Centrum”, following the purchase of 
the entire subject of transaction by Eurocash or its subsidiaries. The above refers in particular to the prices 
of goods purchased by the stores included in the network of „Delikatesy Centrum”, the timely performance 
of supplies and orders by Eurocash or its subsidiaries and the assortment list.  
The Shareholders and Carment hereby undertake towards Eurocash that they will not enter into 
negotiations with entities other than Eurocash, aiming at selling the shares of Carment, the enterprise of 
Carment, its organised part or the selected assets of Carment respectively. Moreover, neither the 
Shareholders nor Carment will commit themselves to transfer or transfer to entities other than Eurocash 
their rights to the shares of Carment, the enterprise of Carment, its organised part or the selected assets of 
Carment respectively. The obligations mentioned hereinabove shall be binding upon the Shareholders and 
Carment until 31 December 2006, unless both parties agree in writing to terminate this letter of intent at an 
earlier date. 
 
 
B. DECISION OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE OFFICE OF COMPETITION AND CONSUMER 
PROTECTION 
 
On March 31 of 2006 year the President of the Office of Competition and Consumer Protection issued a 
positive decision with regard to the purchase of 100% shares of KDWT by Eurocash. Therefore, the 
principal prerequisite of the conditional agreement made by the companies is fulfilled and makes the 
merger of the companies possible. 
The Company is working on process of identification following factors: 
- joing cost and description factors of this cost, besides all costs which recognizable directly to this joing; 
- description of any activity that entity decided to dispose as a result of a merger;  
- amounts included as at the day of a take over for each of the categories of assets, equity and liabilities 
and conditional liabilities of the entity which is being taken over, and the balance-sheet value of each of 
these categories established in accordance with IFRS directly before the merger; 
- description of the factors which resulted in the generation of the cost causing the depiction of the 
company value – description of each intangible value, which was not separately took from the company 
value and an explanation why a reliable valuation of the fair value of this intangible value was not possible;  
- profit and loss amounts of the entity being taken over as of the merger date, included in the financial 
results of the taking-over party, for the given period.  
 
 

NOTE NO 39 
EXPLANATIONS OF SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN IFRS AND PREVIOUS ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS 

Below there is a description of significant differences between IFRS and previously applied accounting 
standards. 
 
 
1. Amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” 
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Pursuant to previous accounting standards, the trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” were subject to 
amortisation. 
Following an in-depth analysis of all important factors, the Company has acknowledged that there is no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which both assets could be expected to generate net cash inflows. 
According to IFRS standards (IAS no 38), the trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” have been classified 
as intangible assets with indefinite lives and therefore the amortisation has been adjusted. 
 
 
2. Bonuses from suppliers 
 
Change in presentation 
Since the Company receives from its suppliers bonuses, which directly depend on the purchases of goods 
and which have been so far reported as sales revenues from services, and which are some kind of cash 
bonuses awarded in the event of exceeding a definite purchase limit, there has been a change in the 
presentation of this item, i.e. the bonuses have been transferred from the item „Sales revenues from 
services” to the item „Costs of sold goods”. 
 
Bonus settlement over time 
Following an analysis of relations between the level of purchases from suppliers, the value of sold 
products (the cost of sold products) and the bonuses from suppliers, it has been acknowledged that for a 
better presentation of margins realized in the respective periods, the received bonuses shall be settled 
over time. Due to the fact that now the Company does not have a system to make an appropriate 
adjustment taking into account the individual conditions binding on the respective suppliers, the adjustment 
has been made based on the analysis of the amounts of bonuses received from suppliers in relation to the 
costs of sold products, and this relation was compared to the value of goods in stock. Such manner of 
calculation of the amount of bonuses included in the goods in stock for the respective reporting periods 
reduces the value of goods presented in the financial statements. The difference resulting from the 
changes between the levels of bonuses included in the goods in stock in the respective periods is related  
to the value of sold goods by adjusting the „Costs of sold goods” or “Retained earnings/deficit” 
respectively. 
 
3. Assets and liabilities related to the Company Social Benefits Fund 
 
The Company operates the Company Social Benefits Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Polish 
accounting law. 
According to IFRS, the value of assets in respect of the Company Social Benefits Fund (cash in bank, 
receivables) is eliminated by reducing it by the value of Fund liabilities. 
 
4. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
In accordance with previous accounting standards, the Company reported its deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities separately in the assets and liabilities of the balance-sheet. 
According to IAS no 12, the Company shall compensate for the deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
 
5. Motivational program 
 
The Company has implemented the Motivational Program for the management, executives and persons 
with significant meaning to the operations of Eurocash S.A. The program provides for the issue of bonds in 
two series: series A and series B. The issue of bonds is designated for persons authorized to participate in 
the program. The bonds will be deposited with a trustee, who will have the right to dispose of the bonds to 
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the authorized persons. The detailed terms of the program, including the terms of purchase of bonds by 
authorized persons, shall be specified by the terms of issue of bonds and the resolutions of the 
Supervisory Board. 
The total nominal value of bonds of series A amounts to PLN 1,277.42 and of series B to PLN 1,277.42. 
The total nominal value of bonds amounts to PLN 2,554.84. 
The Company estimated the value of the motivational program for the bonds of series A at PLN 1,921 
million. This value will be amortised over the period of 3 years, starting from 1 January 2005. The share 
options embedded in the bonds of series B will be valued as of 1 January 2006 and also amortised over a 
period of 3 years. 
 
6. Employee benefits 
 
According to the International Accounting Standards, the Company included in its financial statements the 
costs of pensions and other benefits for employees after the date of their employment, by creating pension 
provisions. 
The application of IAS no 19 „Employee benefits” resulted in creating the provisions using the projected 
unit credit method by a certified actuary. 
 

NOTE NO 40 
EXPLANATIONS RELATING TO TRANSFORMATION TO IFRS AND OTHER CHANGES TO THE 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Eurocash S.A. adopted IFRS for the first time in 2005, and it turned to apply the same as of 1 January 
2004. 
  
The last financial statements of the Company, prepared in accordance with the previous accounting 
standards, covered the year ending 31 December 2004. 
 
The first financial statements of Eurocash S.A., prepared in accordance with IFRS, cover the following 
arrangements and the related supplementary information. 
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RECONCILATION OF EQUITY AS AT 1 JANUARY 2004 
 
 

-

-

-

-

1 109 899
877 551
232 348

-

-

-

-

-

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

(210 881)
-

-
536 965

71 611 867
-

-

-

Note

Fixed assets classified as held for sale
Total assets

Current income tax receivables

Other short-term receivables

Short-term financial assets available for 
sale

Short-term financial assets held for 
trade

Other short-term financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term prepayments

Other long-term prepayments

Current assets (short-term)
Stocks
Trade receivables

Other long-term financial assets
Long-term receivables

Long-term prepayments

Deferred income tax assets

Fixed assets (long-term)
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Investment real property

Previously applied 
accounting 
standards

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

-
103 733 167

838 495

-

-

709 036

-

-

21 349

243 905 985
99 474 455
39 150 831

71 611 867
-

-

-

-
536 965

2 617 091

2 595 742

3

4

-

Investments in associated companies 
consolidated with the equity method

Long-term financial assets available for 
sale

361 254 724

2, A
B

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AS AT 1 JANUARY 2004

-

2 380 584 119 518 443
2 787 733

IFRS

Assets

45 370 550
117 348 740

1 42 582 817
-
-

-

-

-
-

-

1 977 712

(407 150)

(407 150)

-

(210 881)

(210 881)

-

(2 943 416) 359 210 327

-

-
899 018

(361 932)
-

-

838 495

-

1 999 061

709 036

21 349

-

-

-

(4 962 067)
239 691 884
95 389 939

(5 323 999)

39 383 178

-

-

-

103 371 236

-

-

-

-
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-

-

-

-

-

-

899 018

-
-

-
-

-
899 018

-

-

-
-

-
899 018

IFRSNote

Previously applied 
accounting 
standards

Liabilities due to fixed assets held for 
sale

Short-term provisions
Other short-term liabilities

Current income tax liabilities

Long-term loans and credits

Profit (loss) of prior years
Net profit (loss) of the current year

Trade liabilities
Other short-term financial liabilities

Short-term loans and credits

Other long-term provisions
Short-term liabilities

Provision for employee benefits

Deferred income tax provision

Other long-term financial liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Share capital
Supplementary capital
Treasury shares/equities
Capital reserve
Hedge transactions valuation capital

Fixed assets held for sale recognised in 
equity
Retained earnings

Long-term liabilities

Equity

Liabilities

3

4

361 254 724

37 854
219 984 617

3 600 000

231 271
195 922 250

462 111

11 239 964
8 529 021

-

501 451

820 273

-

4 100 114

245 666 707
25 682 089
24 322 512

-

-

-
(6 301 204)

(10 401 318)

-

115 588 018
121 889 000

222
-

-
- 195 922 250

- 37 854
(361 932) 219 622 685

3 600 000

231 271

-

-

-

- 501 451

(1 182 205) 244 484 502
(820 273) 24 861 816

- 24 322 512

- 8 529 021

--

-

(1 761 211) (7 163 396)

- -
- -

- -

-

(1 761 211) 114 725 825

Liabilities

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AS AT 1 JANUARY 2004 (continued)

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

899 018

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

222
- 121 889 000
-

-
-

-

451 621 (9 949 696)

-

(820 273) -

- --

-

-
(2 212 832) 2 786 300

(2 943 416) 359 210 327

- 462 111

(361 932) 10 878 032
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Supplementary information to the equity settlement as at 1st January 2004 
 
Consequences of transition to IFRS 
 
1. Amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” 
 
According to previous accounting standards, the trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” were subject to 
amortisation. 
Following an in-depth analysis of all important factors, the Company has acknowledged that there is no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which both assets could be expected to generate net cash inflows. 
According to IFRS standards (IAS no 38), the trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” have been classified 
as intangible assets with indefinite lives and therefore the amortisation has been adjusted. 
The cumulative adjustment in respect of the amortisation of the trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” 
caused an increase in intangible assets by the amount of PLN 2,787,733. 
 
2. Bonuses from suppliers 
 
Bonus settlement over time 
Following an analysis of relations between the level of purchases from suppliers, the value of sold 
products (the cost of sold products) and the bonuses from suppliers, it has been acknowledged that for the 
better presentation of margins realized in the respective periods, the received bonuses shall be settled 
over time. Due to the fact that now the Company does not have a system to make an appropriate 
adjustment taking into account the individual conditions binding on the respective suppliers, the adjustment 
has been made based on an analysis of the amounts of bonuses received from suppliers in relation to the 
costs of sold products, and this relation was compared to the value of goods in stock. Such manner of 
calculation of the amount of bonuses included in the goods in stock for the respective reporting periods 
reduces the value of goods presented in the financial statements. The difference resulting from the 
changes between the levels of bonuses included in the goods in stock in the respective periods relates to 
the value of sold goods by adjusting the “Costs of sold goods” or “Retained earnings deficit” respectively.  
As a result of the adjustment, the item “Inventories” was reduced by PLN 4,962,067. 
 
3. Assets and liabilities related to the Company Social Benefits Fund 
 
The Company operates the Company Social Benefits Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Polish 
accounting law. 
According to IFRS, the value of assets in respect of the Company Social Benefits Fund (cash in bank, 
receivables) is eliminated by reducing it by the value of Fund liabilities. 
 
4. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
In accordance with previous accounting standards, the Company reported its deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities separately in the assets and liabilities of the balance-sheet. 
According to IAS no 12, the Company shall compensate for the deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

 
 

Results of other changes in accounting rules 
 
A Inventories revaluation write-offs 
 
As of 1st January 2005 the Company changed the rules applicable to creation of revaluation write-offs for 
slow-rotation inventories. Previously the Company executed the revaluation write-offs of inventories kept 
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over 6 months in the amount of 100% of its value, however in accordance with the new rules the write-offs 
apply to goods kept for a period exceeding 9 months. The Company considered that a new manner of 
creation of revaluation write-offs is more accurate for better presentation of the financial standing of the 
Company. 
An accumulated value of the adjustment increased the inventorie by PLN 877,551 by a decrease of the 
revaluation write-off. 
 
B Receivables revaluation write-off 
 
As of 1st January 2005 the Company changed the rules applicable to the creation of revaluation write-offs 
for receivables. Previously, the Company executed the revaluation write-offs of past due receivables 
exceeding 90 days, however in accordance with new rules the write-offs apply to the past due receivables 
exceeding 180 days. The Company considered that a new manner of creation of revaluation write-offs is 
more accurate for better presentation of financial standing of the Company. 
An accumulated value of the adjustment increased the receivables by PLN 232,348 by a decrease of the 
revaluation write-off. 
 
The impact of adjustments on the undivided financial results is presented below 
 

Table No. 35

ADJUSTMENTS TO RETAINED EARNINGS AS AT 1 JANUARY 2004

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Bonuses received from suppliers 2 (4 019 275)

B -

-
Write-off on inventories A - 710 816

188 202

(1 761 211) 899 018

Allowance for bad debts

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

Amortisation of "Eurocash” and "ABC” trade marks 1 2 258 064 -

Additional 
information

 
 
The impact of adjustments on the deferred income tax assets and liabilities is presented below  
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(210 881)

Bonuses received from suppliers

Presentation of deferred tax assets and provision 4 (1 349 942)

4 (1 349 942) (210 881)

166 735

2 942 793

44 146
Write-off on stocks

(407 150) (210 881)

Gross deferred tax provision

Gross deferred tax assets
Presentation of deferred tax assets and provision

-

Deferred tax assets

Table No. 36

ADJUSTMENTS TO DEFERRED TAX AS AT 1 JANUARY 2004

Additional 
information

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

Deferred tax provision

Amortisation of "Eurocash” and "ABC” trade marks 1 529 669 -

Allowance for bad debts B -
A -

(820 273) -
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SETTLEMENT OF PROFIT/LOSS AS AT 1st JANUARY 2004 
 
 

-

899 018

-

1 109 899

(210 881)

899 018

-
-

1 109 899

-

-
-
-
-

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

-

Net loss on discontinued operations

Financial revenues
Financial costs
Other profit (loss) on investments

Income tax
Profit (loss) before tax

Net profit (loss) on continued 
operations

Costs of sold services
Costs of sold materials

Costs of sales

Prime costs of sales

Gross profit (loss) on sales

Net sales of traded goods
Net sales of services 
Net sales of materials

Costs of sold traded goods

Costs of general management

Other operating revenues
Other operating costs

Share in profit of companies 
consolidated with the equity method

Profit (loss) on sales

Operating profit (loss)

Costs of restructuring

A, B

1

2

2

6 528 668
(2 428 555)

4 100 114

4 100 114

Discontinued operations

Net profit (loss)

5 879 433
2 104 262

(1 455 026)
-

4 021 811
(17 448 474)

-
-

155 907 858
(108 721 093)
(27 880 668)
19 306 096

(1 217 737 725)
(1 217 737 725)

-
-

(60 652 567)
19 609 812

1 354 035 771

-

(2 212 832)

-

-

-
-

-

(2 212 832)

-

-

- 19 609 812

55 690 500 (1 162 047 225)
-

IFRSNote

1 373 645 583

RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT / LOSS AS AT 1 JANUARY 2004

(60 652 567)

Continued operations

Net sales

Previously applied 
accounting 
standards

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

-

2 786 300

-

-

4 257 440
2 104 262

2 786 300

(1 455 026)

519 059 (2 120 376)

-

(2 731 891)

55 690 500

(4 962 067)
-

-

2 230 176
-

-
-

-

(2 731 891) 4 906 676

-

-

1 109 899

-
-

(1 162 047 225)

-
-

(16 338 575)
4 021 811

150 945 790
-

(108 721 093)

-
-

(2 731 891) 16 574 205

1 312 993 016
1 293 383 204

--

(25 650 492)

 
Supplementary information to settlement of profit/loss as at 1 January 2004 
 
Consequences of transition to IFRS 
 
1. Amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 1. 
Accumulated adjustment resulting from amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” resulted in a 
decrease of amortisation costs by PLN 2,230,176. 
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2. Bonuses from suppliers 
 
Change in presentation 
Due to the fact that the Company receives bonuses from the suppliers which depend directly on the 
acquisitions of goods disclosed until now as sales revenues on services, which are a form of cash bonuses 
received at the moment of exceeding a particular purchase level, a presentation change has been made, 
i.e. the transformation of the bonuses received from “Sales revenues” to the “Costs of sold goods”. 
As a result of the introduced presentation adjustment, the sale revenues on services and simultaneously 
the costs of sold goods decreased by PLN 60,652,567. This adjustment does not affect the net profit 
(loss).  
 
Bonus settlement over time 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 2. 
As a result of the introduced adjustment, the costs of sold goods increased by an amount of PLN 
4,962,067. 
 
Results of other changes in accounting rules 
 
A Inventories revaluation write-offs 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point A. 
Accumulated value of adjustment decreased other operational costs by PLN 877,551. 
 
B Receivables revaluation write-offs 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point B. 
Accumulated value of adjustment decreased other operational costs by PLN 232,348. 
 
An impact of adjustments on deferred income tax is presented in the table below 

 

Deferred income tax 519 059 (210 881)
Allowance for bad debts B - (44 146)
Write-off on stocks A - (166 735)
Bonuses received from suppliers 2 942 793 -
Amortisation of "Eurocash” and "ABC” trade marks 1 (423 733) -

ADJUSTMENTS TO DEFERRED TAX AS AT 1 JANUARY 2004

Additional 
information

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

Table No. 37

 
EXPLANATION OF MATERIAL ADJUSTMENTS TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT 1st JANUARY 2004 
 

Non-material differences were noted in the cash flow statement prepared in accordance with the IFRS and 
the cash flow statement prepared in accordance with the accounting standards previously applied. 
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NOTE NO 41 
PRESENTATION AND EXPLANATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DATA DISCLOSED IN THESE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND COMPARABLE FINANCIAL DATA, AND PREVIOUSLY PREPARED 
AND PUBLISHED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

40 132 743
-

1 574 958

1 053 743

175 670

(0)
-
-

-
-

33 914 908

-

-
-
-
-

-
-

1 199 669
-

(2 867 571) 367 139 316

(6 615 859)
188 581 826
112 280 762

-
-

-
1 399 289

(6 615 859)

(1 269 633)
(1 269 633)

-
-
-
-

3 748 288 178 557 491
5 017 920

IFRS

Assets

108 282 640
173 450 783

1, C 101 448 114

-

RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004

p
consolidated with the equity methodg
sale

368 053 574

-

4

2, A
B

3

68 510 733
-
-
-
-

189 159
3 302 776
3 127 106

175 670

194 602 791
118 490 058
39 944 413

-
1 053 743

-
-
-

33 914 908
1 199 669

-

Previously applied 
accounting 
standards

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Fixed assets (long-term)
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Investment real property

Other long-term financial assets
Long-term receivables
Long-term prepayments

Deferred income tax assets
Other long-term prepayments

Current assets (short-term)
Stocks
Trade receivables

Total assets

Current income tax receivables
Other short-term receivables
sale
trade
Other short-term financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term prepayments
Fixed assets classified as held for sale

Note

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

1 358 420
1 816 605

-
189 159

68 510 733
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

(458 185)
(458 185)

-

594 893
406 563
188 330

-
-
-
-
-

-
-

1 953 313
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466 881 22 140 651

(2 867 571) 367 139 316

- 500 687
- 6 999 122

(1 761 211) (7 218 674)(6 356 481)

579
- 127 742 000
-

(1 294 330) 142 664 556

Liabilities

RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 (continued)

-

(1 294 330) 14 921 977

- -
- -

- -
-

- 10 228 505
--

-
(1 573 241)

-

- 3 263 054

(1 573 241) 224 474 760
(1 573 241) 3 263 054

-
- -

- -

202 377 121

- -
- 221 211 706

-
1 106 272

-

-

-

-
-
-

-
-

14 262 994

142 005 573
127 742 000

579
-
-

1 573 241
-

20 619 475

226 048 001
4 836 295

-

-

-
368 053 574

-
221 211 706

-
1 106 272

202 377 121
500 687

6 999 122
10 228 505

3

4

Equity

Liabilities

Total liabilities

Share capital
Supplementary capital
Treasury shares/equities
Capital reserve
Hedge transactions valuation capitalg
equity
Retained earnings

Long-term liabilities

Net profit (loss) of the current year

Trade liabilities
Other short-term financial liabilities
Short-term loans and credits

Other long-term provisions
Short-term liabilities

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Provision for employee benefits
Deferred income tax provision

Other long-term financial liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

Long-term loans and credits

Profit (loss) of prior years

3 263 054

Note

Previously applied 
accounting 
standards

sale
Short-term provisions
Other short-term liabilities
Current income tax liabilities

IFRS

1 953 313
-
-
-
-

-
1 953 313

899 018
1 054 295

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

-
-
-

1 953 313

-
-

-
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Supplementary information to the settlement of balance-sheet as at the 31st December 2004. 
 
Consequences of transition to IFRS 
 
1. Amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 1. 
Accumulated adjustment on amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” resulted in an increase of 
intangible assets by PLN 5,017,920. 
 
2. Bonuses from suppliers 
 
Bonus settlement over time 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 2. 
As a result of introduced adjustment the Inventories item decreased by PLN 6,615,859. 
 
3. Assets and liabilities related to Company Social Benefits Fund 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 3. 
As at 31.12.2004 there were no liabilities with regard to Company Social Benefits Fund. 
 
4. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 4. 
 
 
Results of other changes in accounting rules 
 
A Inventories revaluation write-offs 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point A. 
Accumulated amount of adjustment increased inventories by PLN 406,563, by a decrease of the 
revaluation write-off. 
 
B Receivables revaluation write-off 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point B. 
Accumulated amount of adjustment increased the receivables by PLN 188,330, by a decrease of the 
revaluation write-off. 
 
C “Know-how” amortisation 
 
The Company made a decision regarding the extension of amortisation period of „know-how” from 5 years 
to 10 years commencing 1st January 2005. 
Accumulated amount of adjustment increased the intangible assets by PLN 1,816,605. 
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The impact of adjustments on the undivided financial results is presented below 
 

-
Write-off on stocks A - 329 316
Bonuses received from suppliers (5 358 845)

1 471 450

(1 294 330) 1 953 313

2

-Amortisation of "know-how"
Allowance for bad debts B - 152 548

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

Amortisation of "Eurocash” and "ABC” trade marks 1 4 064 515 -

Additional 
information

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Table No. 38

ADJUSTMENTS TO RETAINED EARNINGS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004

C

 
 The impact of adjustments on the deferred income tax assets and liabilities is presented below  
 

A -

345 155

77 247Write-off on stocks

Amortisation of "know-how"

Presentation of deferred tax assets and provision 4 (2 526 646)
-

Table No. 39

ADJUSTMENTS TO DEFERRED TAX AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004

Additional 
information

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

Gross deferred tax provision
C -

-2 1 257 013

(1 573 241) -

Deferred tax assets

Gross deferred tax assets
Presentation of deferred tax assets and provision 4 (2 526 646)

(1 269 633)
(458 185)

Allowance for bad debts B - 35 783

Bonuses received from suppliers

(458 185)

(458 185)

Deferred tax provision

Amortisation of "Eurocash” and "ABC” trade marks 1 953 405
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SETTLEMENT OF PROFIT/LOSS ACCOUNT FROM 01.01 to 31.12.2004 
 

1 099 607 18 054 233

715 537 710
703 263 061

--

(17 897 342)

(626 040 137)

-
-

(8 647 971)
690 183

89 497 573
-

(53 545 998)

-

1 099 607 9 055 389

-

-

(40 501)

-
-

-

1 099 607

33 200 457

(15 486)
-

-

1 115 093
-

-
-

-

7 786 738

-

-

10 096 445
2 377 376

7 786 738

(3 418 433)

(208 925) (1 268 650)

RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FROM 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2004 (functional classification)

(33 215 943)

Continued operations

Net sales

Previously applied 
accounting 
standards

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

-

- 12 274 649

33 200 457 (626 040 137)
-

IFRSNote

748 753 654

890 682

-

-

-
-

-

890 682

-

(33 215 943)
12 274 649

736 479 005

-
(659 240 594)
(659 240 594)

-
-

89 513 060
(53 545 998)
(19 012 435)
16 954 626

690 183
(8 607 470)

-
-

9 037 339
2 377 376

(3 418 433)
-

7 996 283
(1 067 420)

6 928 863

6 928 863

Discontinued operations

Net profit (loss)

2

2

1

A, B

Profit (loss) on sales

Operating profit (loss)

Costs of restructuring

Costs of general management

Other operating revenues
Other operating costs

Share in profit of companies 
consolidated with the equity method

Net sales of traded goods
Net sales of services 
Net sales of materials

Costs of sold traded goods
Costs of sold services
Costs of sold materials

Costs of sales

Prime costs of sales

Gross profit (loss) on sales

Net loss on discontinued operations

Financial revenues
Financial costs
Other profit (loss) on investments

Income tax
Profit (loss) before tax

Net profit (loss) on continued 
operations

-
-

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

-

(32 806)

-

(32 806)

(40 501)

-
-

(40 501)

7 695

-
-
-
-

-
-

 
 

Supplementary information to the settlement of profit and loss account from 01.01.2004 to 
31.12.2004 
 
Consequestion of transition to IFRS 
 
1. Amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 1. 
Aggregated adjustment on amortisation of trademarks of “Eurocash” and “ABC” resulted in a decrease of 
amortisation costs by PLN 1,115,093. 
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2. Bonuses from suppliers 
 
Change in presentation  
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 2. 
As a result of the introduced presentation adjustment, the sale revenues on services and simultaneously 
the costs of sold goods decreased by PLN 33,215,943. This adjustment does not affect the net profit 
(loss).  
 
Bonus settlement over time 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point 2. 
As a result of the adjustment introduced, the costs of goods sold increased by PLN 15,486. 

 
Results of other changes in accounting rules 
 
A Inventories revaluation write-offs 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point A. 
Aggregated amount of adjustment increased other operational costs by PLN 32,145. 
 
B Receivables revaluation write-off 
 
Description of adjustment is presented in supplementary information to settlement of own equity as at 1 
January 2004, point B. 
Aggregated amount of adjustment increased other operational costs by PLN 8,356. 
 
The impact of adjustments on deferred income tax is presented below 

Table No. 40

ADJUSTMENTS TO DEFERRED TAX FROM 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2004

Additional 
information

Effect of moving 
to IFRS

Effect of other 
changes to 
accounting 

principles

Amortisation of "Eurocash” and "ABC” trade marks 1 (211 868) -
Bonuses received from suppliers 2 2 942 -
Write-off on stocks A - 6 108
Allowance for bad debts B - 1 588
Deferred income tax (208 925) 7 695

 
 
 
 

EXPLANATION OF MATERIAL ADJUSTMENTS TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FROM 01.01 TO 
31.12.2004 
 

Non-material differences were noted in the cash flow statement prepared in accordance with the ISFR and 
the cash flow statement prepared in accordance with the accounting standards previously applied. 
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1 Management discussion of the financial results for 2005  

1.1 Key financial and operational highlights in 2005 

• Eurocash sales increased by 10.5% comparing with 2004 

• Gross margin increased to 13.7% 

• LFL sales growth (same number of stores) amounted in 2005 to 6.8% 

• Number of Cash & Carry stores increased by 11 to 94 stores at the end of 2005 

• Number of abc stores increased by 276 and reached 2,169 at the end of 2005 

• The share of abc stores in total sales of Discount Cash & Carry stores amounted to 39.9% 
comparing with 37.9% in 2004 

• Sales to abc shops increased by 21.1% comparing with 2004 
 

 
Table 1 Summary of financial results for 2005 

PLN million 

 
2005 

 
2004 

change 
2005 /  
2004 

Sales revenues 1 687.14 1 526.53  10.52% 
Gross profit/(loss) on sales 230.48 198.03  16.38% 
(Gross profitability on sales %)  13.66% 12.97% 0.69% 
EBITDA  70.21 48.79  43.89% 
(EBITDA margin%) 4.16% 3.20% 0.96% 
EBIT  44.65 31.19  43.14% 
(EBIT margin%) 2.65% 2.04% 0.60% 
Gross profit 41.68 27.51  51.52% 
Net income 32.57 22.14  47.09% 
Net profitability % 1.93% 1.45% 0.48% 
 

1.2 Profit and loss account 
 
Table 2 Sales analysis for 2005  

PLN million 

 
2005 

 
2004 

change 
2005 /  
2004 

Sales revenues including: 
1 687.14 1 526.53  10.52% 

Revenues from sales of goods and materials  
(sales in discount Cash & Carry stores) 1 640.91 1 496.14  9.68% 
Revenues from sales of products 
 (profits from suppliers and abc franchise fee) 46.23 30.39  52.13% 

Number of operating discounts 
94 83  11 

Sales in stores operating in 2004 and in 2005  
(like-for-like). 1 492.75 1 397.58  6.81% 
 
In 2005 the share of abc stores in total sales of discount Cash & Carry stores amounted to 39.9% 
comparing with 37.9% in 2004.  
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Table 3 Costs analysis for 2005 

PLN million 

 
2005 

 
2004 

change 
2005 /  
2004 

Gross profit/(loss) on sales 230.48 198.03  16.38% 
(Gross profitability on sales %)  13.66% 12.97% 0.69% 
Sales costs including: (124.40) (110.39) 12.69% 
(as % of sales) 7.37% 7.23% 0.14% 
Logistic costs (19.49) (18.67) 4.39% 
(as % of sales) 1.15% 1.22% -0.07% 
Costs of operations of Cash & Carry discounts (104.92) (91.73) 14.38% 
(as % of sales) 6.22% 6.01% 0.21% 
Administrative costs: (54.89) (44.19) 24.21% 
(as % of sales) 3.25% 2.90% 0.36% 
Profit/loss on sales 51.18 43.44  17.82% 
(as % of sales) 3.03% 2.85% 0.19% 
Other operating income  4.71 1.58  197% 
Other operating costs  (11.24) (13.83) -19% 
Operating profit – EBIT 44.65 31.19  43% 
(EBIT margin %) 2.65% 2.04% 0.60% 
* operational costs of distribution centers, transportation costs are included in costs of operations of Cash & Carry 
discounts 
 
Increased costs of sales in 2005 result from opening new stores, which has not yet achieved sales 
level of average store, and in effect increased the ratio:  cost of operations  of  cash & carry stores / 
sales. 
 
The increase of administrative expenses in 2005 was mainly due to: 
 

• Increase of IT system maintenance costs (PLN 6.6 million), resulting from change to own SAP 
platform in October 2004 (before October 2004 the IT platform was temporarily shared with 
Jeronimo Martins group), 

 
• Increase of personnel costs (PLN 4.3 million), 

 
• Increase of costs resulting from taking over the MHC stores (PLN 1.2 million), 

 
• Transferring costs of know-how acquired from Politra B.V. from other operating costs to 

administrative costs (PLN 1.8 million). This change resulted in decrease of the profit on sales 
in 2005 comparing with 2004. However it had no impact on the comparability of the operating 
profit in the discussed periods.  

 
The general increase of administrative expenses resulted from changes in the operational structure 
and, in the opinion of the Management Board, will be stable at present level. 
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1.3 Cash flow  
 
Table 4 Cash flow for 2005 

 
PLN million 

 
2005 

 
2004 

Operating cash flow 91.17  29.15  
Gross profit (loss) 41.68  27.51  
Depreciation 25.55  17.60  
Change in working capital 26.89  (9.07) 
Other (2.96) (6.89) 

     
Cash flow from investments  (24.32) (69.71) 
Cash flow from financing activities (1.73) (28.89) 
Total cash flow 65.13  (69.46) 
 
 
Total cash flow in 2005 amounted to PLN 65.13 million. The said amount comprised mainly of the 
operational cash flow, in particular gross profit, depreciation and change in working capital. A negative 
cycle of cash conversion allows generating financial surplus at growing sales. 
 
 

1.4 Working capital ratios 
 
Table 5 Working capital ratios flow for 2005 

Turnover in days 
 

2005 
 

2004 
1. Stocks turnover  26.8  27.5  
2. Trade receivables turnover  8.2  9.8  
3. Trade liabilities turnover  59.3  55.8  
     
4. Operating cycle (1+2) 35.0  37.3  
5. Cash conversion (4-3) (24.4) (18.5) 
 
 
In 2005 the turnover ratios of stocks and trade receivables were at the lower level than in  2004. The 
negative cash conversion cycle was improved (from minus 18.5 in 2004 days to minus 24.4 days in 
2005). 
 
 
Ratios definitions 
Gross profit margin on sales – ratio of gross sales profit to net sales revenue. 
EBITDA margin – ratio of EBITDA ( operating profit plus amortization) to net sales revenue. 
Operating profit margin (EBIT) – ratio of operating profit to net sales revenue 
Net profit margin on sales – ratio of net profit to net sales revenue. 
Stocks turnover – the ratio of balance of stocks at the end of period to net sales for period, multiplied by the 
number of days in the period. 
Trade receivables turnover – the ratio of balance of trade receivables at the end of period to net sales for period, 
multiplied be the number of days in the period. 
Trade liabilities turnover – the ratio of balance of trade liabilities at end of period to costs of sold traded goods for 
period, multiplied by the number of days in the period 
Operating cycle – the sum of stocks turnover and receivables turnover. 
Cash conversion cycle – the difference between operating cycle and liabilities turnover. 
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1.5 Structure of the assets and equity & liabilities 
 
The volume of fixed and current assets, equity, liabilities and provisions for liabilities, as well as their 
share in the total value of assets is presented in the table below: 
 
Table 6 Structure of assets  

 PLN million 31.12.2005 % 31.12.2004 %
Fixed assets (long-term) 180.61 40.87% 178.56  48.63%

Intangible fixed assets 110.82 25.08% 108.28  29.49%
Tangible fixed assets 67.73 15.33% 68.51  18.66%
Long-term receivables 0.56 0.13% 0.19  0.05%
Long-term prepayments 1.50 0.34% 1.57  0.43%

          
Current assets (short-term) 261.33 59.13% 188.58  51.37%

Inventories 120.26 27.21% 112.28  30.58%
Trade receivables 36.89 8.35% 40.13  10.93%
Other short-term receivables 2.71 0.61% 1.05  0.29%
Cash and cash equivalents 99.04 22.41% 33.91  9.24%
Short-term prepayments 2.43 0.55% 1.20  0.33%

         
Total assets 441.94 100.00% 367.14  100.00%

 
 
Table 7 Structure of liabilities  

 PLN million 31.12.2005 % 31.12.2004 %
Total Equity 175.75 39.77% 142.66  38.86%
         
Long-term liabilities 4.67 1.06% 3.26  0.89%

Long-term loans and credits -  -  -  -  
Other long-term financial liabilities 4.31 0.98% 3.26  0.89%
Other long-term liabilities -  -  -  -  
Deferred income tax provision -  -  -  -  
Provision for employee benefits 0.36 0.08% -  0.00%
Other long-term provisions -  -  -  -  

Short-term liabilities 261.52 59.18% 221.21  60.25%
Short-term loans and credits -  -  -  -  
Other short-term financial liabilities 1.74 0.39% 1.11  0.30%
Trade liabilities 236.85 53.59% 202.38  55.12%
Current income tax liabilities 4.19  0.95% 0.50  0.14%
Other short-term liabilities 8.14 1.84% 7.00  1.91%
Short-term provisions 10.59 2.40% 10.23  2.79%
Liabilities due to fixed assets held for sale -  -  -  -  

          
Liabilities and provisions 266.19 60.23% 224.47  61.14%
          
Total liabilities and equity 441.94 100.00% 367.14  100.00%

 
 
Comparing with the situation at the end of 2004, the fixed assets equity coverage ratio and equity-to-
total assets ratio have been improved, mainly due to increase of the level of equity (increase of net 
profit).  
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1.6 Evaluation of financial resources management 
 
The Company’s cash position amounted at the end of 2005 to PLN 90.04 million and the Company 
had no bank debt. Due to the negative working capital, the Company generates significant positive 
cash flows from operating activities. All major investments realised in 2005 - acquisition of MHC 
stores and openings of new Cash & Carry stores were financed from Eurocash own financial 
resources.  
 
In the opinion of the Management, there are no significant financial risks related to the ability of 
Eurocash to pay its liabilities. The main financial risk factors related to Eurocash operations are as 
follows: 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Eurocash policy assumes maintaining sufficient cash to service the current payments. Surpluses are 
deposited in bank deposits.  
 
Credit risk 
 
Due to the operations in cash & carry format and credit sales limited to the abc clients, Eurocash has 
no significant credit risk.  
 
Currency risk 
 
Eurocash revenues and costs are predominately denominated in PLN.  
 

1.7 Assessment of the possibility of executing the planned investments 
 
Main investments planned in 2006 are related to: 
- acquisition of KDWT S.A. 
- potential transaction with Carment S.A. 
- opening of app. 6 new Eurocash Discount Cash & Carry stores 
 
Company intends to use the free cash available in the Company to finance envisaged investments in 
2006 – mainly acquisition of KDWT S.A. shares and transaction with Carment S.A. Moreover in the 
opinion of the Management, the Company has sufficient debt capacity in order to secure sufficient 
financing for the planned investment program. 
 

1.8 Major events and factors affecting the 2005 financial results 
 
Conditional agreement to purchase 100% of KDWT shares 
 
On December 15th 2005, Eurocash S.A. (hereafter “Eurocash”) entered into a conditional agreement 
(the „Agreement”) to purchase 100% of shares in KDWT S.A. with its seat in Poznan („KDWT”), the 
2nd biggest tobacco distributor in Poland with a market share of app. 9%. The Agreement was 
realised on 31st March 2006. As a result of the transaction, the 2nd biggest (in terms of sales) FMCG 
wholesaler in Poland has been created. For comparison - the total sales of KDWT and Eurocash in 
2004 amounted to over PLN 3 bn, and the total share in the tobacco distribution of KDWT and 
Eurocash amounts to app. 10%. 
 
 
New Distribution Center and Head Office 
 
In 2nd half of October, Eurocash started operations of a new distribution center in Komorniki near 
Poznan. In November also the head office of Eurocash has been moved to the new location in 
Komorniki. 
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New discount cash & carry store was opened in Ilawa. At the end of 2005, the number of Cash & 
Carry discount stores amounted to 94. 
 
Completion of the takeover of MHC stores 
 
At the end of the 2nd quarter all 12 stores taken over from MHC were selling under the Eurocash 
chain. Total expenditures on the takeover and launch of the said stores amounted to PLN 17.5 million. 
Presently the said outlets are profitable. 
 
Increase of the number of Cash &Carry stores 
 
The number of Cash & Carry discount stores grew in 2005 to 94 from 83 at the end of 2004. The 
Company opened 15 new stores, including: 

- 12 taken over from MHC (Częstochowa, Jaworzno, Racibórz, Zawiercie, Opole, Cieszyn, 
Żywiec, Oświęcim, Kędzierzyn Koźle, Rybnik, Nysa, Wodzisław) 

- 3 opened independently by Eurocash (Starogard Gdanski, Dzierżoniów, Iława). 
 
At the same time 4 stores were closed: in Ruda Śląska (poor technical condition of the building), 
Bielsko-Biała (fire), Opole and Kędzierzyn Koźle (due to the opening of new ones in the said towns). 

 
 
Development of the chain of “abc” shops 
 
As at the end of 2005 the “abc” chain comprised of 2,169 shops (comparing with 1,892 abc shops at 
the end of 2004). 
 
Obtaining the status of a public company and launch on the Warsaw Stock Exchange 
 
The Public Offering lasting from 18 to 31 January 2005 was successful – 57,483,900 shares, 
constituting 45% of the share capital, were allotted to new investors. Shares of Eurocash S.A. were 
launched on the Warsaw Stock Exchange on 4 February 2005. 
 
General Meeting of Shareholders 
 
The Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of Eurocash S.A. was held on 11 April 2005. The 
General Meeting, among other things: 

- accepted resignation of Mr Ronaldo Coelho de Magalhães and Mr António José Santos Silva 
Casanova from the membership in the Supervisory Board, and appointed Mr Ryszard 
Wojnowski and Mr Janusz Lisowski as members of the Supervisory Board; 

- resolved not to pay dividend for 2004; 
- amended the Articles of Association, the Regulations of the General Meeting and the 

Regulations of the Supervisory Board of Eurocash S.A. 
The full text of resolutions was included in the current report no. 32/2005 on 11 April 2005. 
 
Incentive program 
 
Eurocash approved a share option plan for specified employees of the Company. The plan was 
divided into two tranches, allocation of of shares will be made in the years 2008 and 2009 
respectively. The employees have to hold bonds giving the right to acquire shares for at least 3 years 
and at the same time remain employees of Eurocash. Each tranche will consist of 3,193,550 share 
options (the total of 6.387.100 share options was allocated for both tranches). The share price in the 
first tranche was established based on the price of the public offering (PLN 3.10 per share), while in 
the second tranche it was based on the market price of Eurocash shares in November 2005. 
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2 Eurocash development perspectives  

2.1 Eurocash business overview 
 
Eurocash S.A. manages Poland’s largest Discount Cash & Carry chain in terms of the number of 
stores and the second largest in terms of sales. The company is also the franchiser of the abc chain,, 
of local grocery shops, the largest by number of shops. 
 
Eurocash Discount Cash & Carry outlets sell an optimized selection of Fast Moving Consumer Goods 
(i.e. food, drinks, alcohol, and tobacco as well as Home Care and personal hygiene products) for small 
and medium-sized grocery shops. At the end of 2005, the network counted 94 Discount Cash & Carry 
points, located across all of the country’s 16 voivodships. The Eurocash wholesale network serves 
over 60,000 customers in small and medium-sized towns (over 25,000 inhabitants). 
 
At the end of 2005 the abc chain was comprised of 2169 outlets. These are independent small and 
average-size stores that are integrated in the neighborhood, offering food, home care and personal 
hygiene products . They rely on Eurocash for marketing support, training and improved commercial 
and promotional conditions, which enable them to compete effectively in their marketplaces. 
 
Eurocash S.A. offers around 3500 products sold all over Poland. The company does not carry out any 
export or import activity.  
 

2.2 Sales structure 
 
The tables below presents sales breakdown by key groups of products offered by Eurocash. 
 
Table 8 Sales by groups of products  
 

PLN million 2005 2004 
Dry groceries 636.5 38.8% 626.0 41.8% 
Fresh food and fat 226.8 13.8% 207.3 13.9% 
Beverages 480.6 29.3% 378.4 25.3% 
Chemicals and hygiene products 150.3 9.2% 152.3 10.2% 
Other 146.7 8.9% 132.2 8.8% 
Total 1 640.9 100.0% 1 496.1 100.0% 
 
Besides offering well-known brands, Eurocash also markets products available exclusively in its chain; 
the sales of such products account for approx. 12% of the Company’s total sales.  
 

2.3 Suppliers 
 
Because of the range of goods offered by Eurocash and its geographically diversified sales, its 
suppliers group is very large. The brand product suppliers (key FMCG manufacturers and importers) 
are selected based on their respective market shares, brand significance, and coverage of respective 
product segments. 
 
The Company is supplied by app. 470 suppliers. The Company is not dependent on any supplier. The 
share of no supplier exceeds 5% of total purchases, and the total share of 10 biggest suppliers 
amounts to 29%. 
 

2.4 Economic environment & market trends 

Eurocash is positioned in the FMCG (Fast Moving Consumer Goods) sector. In this business, 
Eurocash constitutes a unique Discount Cash & Carry proposal in the Polish market. 

The FMCG sector includes food and non-alcoholic beverages, alcoholic beverages and tobacco, as 
well as detergents and cosmetics. The value of the FMCG market in Poland in 2005 according to GfK 
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Polonia was estimated at PLN 135.5 billion (including main and alternative channels sales). Of these, 
food and non-alcoholic beverages constitute the largest group (app. 71% of the total). The market has 
been growing slowly but steadily (in the past years by about 3% annually). The acceleration of 
economic growth, which will result in the increase of the disposable income, offers the perspective of a 
more dynamic expansion in the coming years. 

The Polish demographic structure and the socio-economic conditions define, to a large extent, the 
structure of the distribution channels. Such a structure is nowhere to be found elsewhere in Europe. 
Poland’s population is dispersed throughout the country: some 40% of the population lives in the rural 
areas. No significant changes are foreseen in this overall distribution until the year 2030. Making the 
FMCG products available to a large number of small communities presents a huge challenge to 
distributors and requires a large number of smaller outlets. 

Housing conditions and penetration of automobiles in the families define another unique quality of the 
Polish market, i.e. small and frequent purchases. Small apartments have little room for storage, and 
large purchases are out of the question due to the lack of transportation. Although these conditions 
are changing for the better, this will be a long-term process. 

The effect of the above factors is that the traditional distribution channel dominates the Polish market. 
At present, it is responsible for approximately 47% of the market and probably at least until 2010 it will 
remain more important than the modern channel (hypermarkets, supermarkets and discount stores), 
which currently constitutes only 35% of the total. The remaining 18% remain in the hands of the 
alternative channel - HoReCa (hotels, restaurants and cafes), petrol stations and convenience stores. 

The wholesale business is organized primarily to service both traditional and alternative channels. 
Since 1995 a significant concentration has been observed: of more than 20,000 previously existing 
wholesale companies, fewer than 9,000 have remained. This concentration takes place at the 
expense of small local wholesalers who cannot compete with the ever more demanding legal and 
market conditions. Only 6 companies have a nation-wide scope. Together with KDWT, Eurocash 
forms the second biggest FMCG wholesaler in Poland. 

In the opinion of Eurocash, the FMCG wholesale market is extremely attractive due to its value, 
declining number of competitors, existence of few international players and also because of the 
existence of many communities without professional operators, which are too small for the concepts 
requiring huge investments. The Discount Cash & Carry formula ensures that Eurocash has a unique 
offer for the Polish market. Moreover due to strengthening consolidation process on the market, 
Eurocash sees an opportunity of further growth by becoming an active player in this process and also 
one of the main consolidation centers on the wholesale market.   
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2.5 Eurocash development strategy  
The strategic objective of Eurocash is to satisfy needs of small and medium retail stores across all 
significant assortment groups and distribution formats, follows a dual development strategy: 
 
- further development of the discount Cash & Carry network through organic growth; 
- development of new formats of wholesale distribution (including via acquisitions of other 

companies), in order to give a full offering to our clients while we achieve economies of scale and 
make fuller use of the logistics possibilities. 

 
Organic growth 
 
Growth of Eurocash Discount Cash & Carry operations focuses on 2 measures: like-for-like growth 
through ever-improving implemention of its concept in existing outlets, and regional expansion. 
Nowadays Eurocash Discount Cash & Carry is the reference cash & carry in a large number of Polish 
cities, but significant room exists for further growth. To the extent that our business depends on 
keeping our clients competitive, our continued, profitable growth gives our clients ongoing 
improvement in the form of better buying prices, better products and better support and training. 
 
Thus, Eurocash Discount Cash & Carry will always be looking, first of all, into ways of better satisfying 
our customers’ needs in order to increase sales per store through better penetration of our clients’ 
total turnover. Eurocash intends to develop new categories and to launch more regional products. If 
we are able to provide the customer with peace of mind, thanks to the fact  that in the Eurocash 
Discount Cash & Carry in his town he can find everything he needs at the most competitive prices, we 
will keep strong growth per store. Eurocash Discount Cash & Carry will also be looking at ways of 
better integrating with our clients at several points of the value chain in order to make their operations 
and ours more competitive. 
 
abc has now proved to be a successful concept as a neighborhood network of independent owners , 
who decide what is best for their customers in close to 2200 stores. The time has now come to expand 
that concept in three directions:. a) increase the number of abc stores, b) raise the proportion of abc 
purchases made at Eurocash and c) increase the total sales of the abc store to the final consumer.  
 
The second element of organic growth is geographic expansion. The Eurocash Discount Cash & Carry 
concept has the advantage of being profitable in any town with over 25,000 inhabitants. This gives a 
potential market of over 150 towns that can support Discount Cash & Carry. Eurocash intends to 
reach the 100 stores figure still in 2006. 

Development of new formats of wholesale distribution: 

Again, the strategic objective of Eurocash is to satisfy needs of small and medium retail stores across 
all significant assortment groups and distribution formats. In order to achieve this, Eurocash intends to 
develop additional formats of wholesale distribution, in particular in specialized distribution of selected 
products such as  tobacco and introduction of new formats of franchise chains of retail stores. 

With acquisition of KDWT S.A. and the planned purchase of the assets of Carment S.A., Eurocash 
envisages an already significant step on its way to transforming its business model from the current 
single format of wholesale distribution, based on discount cash & carry, to a multiformat business, with 
a complete offering in all significant assortment groups and distribution channels. Alongside the 
discount cash & carry stores and abc shops, Eurocash also plans to develop wholesale distribution of 
selected products with active sales (via development of KDWT operations) and franchise store chains 
in other formats than the abc shops.  In this manner, Eurocash will reinforce is position in all FMCG 
wholesale market segments and fully satisfy the needs of independent retailers in Poland. 
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2.6 External and internal factors significant for the development of Eurocash 

External Factors: 

• Growth in the FMCG market and its structure. The Company expects further growth of modern 
distribution methods; its unfavourable impact on company’s income will be compensated by 
consolidation in the traditional wholesale market  

• Fuel prices. As logistic expenses, closely connected with fuel prices, are a vital part of selling 
expenses, their substantial changes may influence the Company’s profit and loss. 

 

Internal Factors : 

• Acquisition of KDWT shares 

The Management Board of Eurocash believes the transaction will allow to increase the sales of 
both companies. This is to be achieved among others by: 

- opportunity to acquire new clients by KDWT among the Eurocash customers (in particular 
among the stores which operate in “abc” network, which has almost 2 100 stores across 
the whole Poland), 

- faster expansion of KDWT by use of the locations and storage space of Eurocash 
Discount Cash & Carry stores in order to set up the operations in new regions, 

- broadening of the KDWT assortment by introduction of selected products distributed by 
Eurocash, 

- opportunity to unify the purchase conditions within the group. 

Due to necessity of integration of both companies on the operational level, in the opinion of the 
Management Board of Eurocash achievement of the full synergy effects resulting from the 
aforementioned transaction will be possible within 1-2 years.  

• Development of new formats of wholesale distribution. Introduction of new formats can be also 
realized by acquisition of other companies, which operate different format than Cash & Carry, 
as in the case of negotiations regarding acquisition of assets from Carment S.A. About the 
execution of an letter of intent with Carment S.A., Eurocash informed in current report no 
1/2006. 

• Opening new discount cash & carry stores (organic expansion). By the end of 2006 Eurocash 
expects to operate at least 100 cash & carry stores. 

• Strict cost control 

 

2.7 Major risks and threats related to the operational activities 

External factors 

Macroeconomic situation. Purchasing power of the population 

Economic slowdown, drop of the purchasing power and decrease in household expenditures for 
consumption may have a negative impact on the sales volume of the Company.  
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The structure of the FMCG retail distribution market in Poland 

In 2005 the prevailing form of FMCG retail distribution was a traditional distribution channel with 
approx. 60% share. Such high share (as compared to other European countries) results from a low 
concentration of population in the area of the country and bad housing conditions, stimulating more 
frequent purchases. This situation is advantageous for the Company whose discount cash & carry 
stores supply small and mid-sized shops located off large agglomerations. A growth in the share of 
modern distribution will reduce the potential market of the Company’s business. 

The structure of the traditional FMCG distribution channel. Competition 

According to the estimates of the Company, there is approx. 6,000 entities operating on the traditional 
FMCG distribution market, the majority of which are local stores. That enables price advantage of 
Eurocash, which operates a country-wide sales chain. Market consolidation, appearance of new 
strong entities could have a negative impact on the level of margins. 

Internal factors 

IT systems 

An efficient, uniform IT system allows for centralised and effective management of business 
processes, allowing for an exact analysis of profitability of particular products and particular discount 
stores, which guarantees high safety of the conducted business. Possible disturbances in the system 
operation would be a threat for the business of the Company. 

New investments 

Eurocash wants to be an active participant in the process of market consolidation by taking over 
FMCG wholesalers. Taking over other enterprises, the Company bears numerous material risks 
connected among others with integration, realization of the assumed synergies or wrong assessment 
of the market potential. 

Suppliers 

Eurocash cooperates with approximately 470 suppliers, with whom it has concluded agreements 
providing for discounts and favourable payment terms. While the share of the largest supplier in the 
Eurocash total product offering does not exceed 5%, the risk, that termination or an unfavourable 
change of the terms of the agreements might adversely affect Eurocash business and financial results 
is limited. 
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3 Additional information 

3.1 Agreements essential for Eurocash operations 
 
Conditional agreement regarding acquisition of KDWT shares 
 
On 15th of December 2005 Eurocash entered into a conditional agreement (the „Agreement”) to 
purchase 100% of shares in KDWT S.A. with its seat in Poznan („KDWT”), the 2nd biggest tobacco 
distributor in Poland with a market share of app. 9%. The Agreement has been realised on 31st 
March 2006. The purchase price of the Company’s shares amounts to less than 5% of the Eurocash 
sales revenues within the last 4 quarters before concluding the Agreement. 
 
Additionally, Eurocash obliged himself to issue for the selected KDWT shareholders options or 
convertible bonds, which will entitle to subscribe after 36 months from concluding of this Agreement, 
for 830 000 newly issued Eurocash shares at the issue price of PLN 4.82 per share.  
 
As a result of the transaction, the 2nd biggest (in terms of sales) FMCG wholesaler in Poland has 
been created. For comparison - the total sales of KDWT and Eurocash in 2004 amounted to over 
PLN 3 bn, and the total share in the tobacco distribution of KDWT and Eurocash amounts to app. 
10%. 
 
Investment in KDWT shares will be financed out of the own sources and current cash-flows from the 
operating activity of Eurocash. In the opinion of Eurocash Management Board, the acquisition of 
KDWT shares should not result in resigning from plan of dividend payment out of the 2005 net profit.  
 
Furthermore, this investment will not result in any delays in the planned organic growth of the 
Discount Cash & Carry chain or bring down the funds already earmarked for new Discount Cash & 
Carry stores, as specified in the investment expenditure program for 2005-2008 contained in Chapter 
VI of the Eurocash Offering Prospectus.  
 
 
Letter of intent with Carment S.A. 
 
On 21 January 2006, Eurocash S.A. entered into a letter of intent with Carment S.A. (hereinafter 
referred to as “Carment”) and its shareholders regarding as part of the business negotiations 
between both parties whose aim was to determine detailed terms and conditions of a potential 
transaction whereby Eurocash or its subsidiaries would acquire the Carment enterprise, its organised 
part, certain assets of Carment, or a 100% interest in Carment (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Transaction”).  
 
In the letter of intent the parties agreed upon, among others, the initial terms of the Transaction and 
determined that certain Carment shareholders would continue their involvement in the company’s 
current operations for 36 months following the day of completion of the Transaction. Detailed 
conditions of further cooperation will be specified in course of further negotiations. 
 
Carment and its certain shareholders also undertook towards Eurocash that until December 31st 
2006 it would not conduct negotiations on disposal of Carment with other entities, would not agree to 
transfer and would not transfer their rights to Carment shares, Carment enterprise, its organised part 
or certain assets of Carment, respectively. 
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3.2 Organisational and capital relations of Eurocash 
As of the end of 2005 Eurocash held no shares in other entities.  
 

3.3 Major investments 
In 2005 majority of Eurocash investments were related to the acquisition of MHC stores. The total 
expenditure on the takeover of 12 stores was PLN 17.5 m, out of which: PLN 14 m for acquiring 
assets from MHC (including the trademark), PLN 3.5m for depot adjustment and equipment. The 
aforementioned investments were financed from Eurocash own financial resources.  
 

3.4 Transactions with related parties 
 
In the 2005 Eurocash S.A. did not carry out any transaction with a related entity  
 

3.5 Loans taken, loan agreements and warranties and collaterals 
 

In 2005 Eurocash did not entered into any significant agreements regarding taking or granting 
sureties for a credit, loans or guarantees. 
 
In 2005 Eurocash S.A. did not issue, acquire or repay debt or capital securities.   
 

3.6 Forecasts  
 
The Management Board of Eurocash S.A. has not published financial forecasts for 2005. 
 

3.7 Changes in the basic management principles  
 
In 2005 no changes in the basic management principles took place. 
 

3.8 Changes in the composition of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board  
During the reporting period, there were no changes in the composition of the Management Board. 
 
On 11th April 2005, the Ordinary General Meeting approved of the resignation of Mr. Ronaldo Coelho 
de Magalhaes and Mr. Antonio Jose Santos Silva Casanova from the positions of Members of the 
Supervisory Board and appointed Mr. Ryszard Wojnowski and Mr. Janusz Lisowski as Members of 
the Supervisory Board.  
 

3.9 Agreements with the members of the Management Board providing for compensation  
 
The Company has not executed any agreements with the members of the Management Board, 
providing for compensation in the event of their resigning or being dismissed from their positions 
without a sound reason or when they are dismissed or made redundant due to the Company’s 
merging through acquisition.  
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3.10 Remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board in 2005 

 

PLN Base 
remunaration

Other 
benefits Total 

Remuneration of the Management Board members 

Luis Amaral 300 000 839 938 1 139 938  
Rui Amaral 720 000 9 711 729 711  
Katarzyna Kopaczewska 465 000 9 711 474 711  
Arnaldo Guerreiro 640 000 15 439 655 439  
Pedro Martinho 600 000 5 806 605 806  
Ryszard Majer 388 146 15 439 403 585  

 3 113 146 896 043 4 009 189  

 
Remuneration of the Supervisory Board members 

Geoffrey Francis Eric Crossley 98 639 -  98 639  
Eduardo Aguinaga de Mores 96 265 -  96 265  
Joao Borges de Assuncao 97 293 -  97 293  
Ryszard Wojnowski 35 752 -  35 752  
Janusz Lisowski 35 752 -  35 752  
Ronaldo Coelho de Magalhaes 62 500 -  62 500  
Antonio Jose Santos Silva Casanova 63 075 -  63 075  

 489 275 -  489 275  
 

In addition Management Board Members on basis of the Motivational Program described in section 
3.15 below, will have a right to purchase Series B shares in amount specified in section 3.11 below. 
 

3.11 Number of shares held by the members of the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board of Eurocash 

 

as of 31.12.2005
Shares

Right to 
acquire Series 

B shares Total 
Management Board members 

Luis Amaral (directly and indirectly) 70,258,100 0 70,258,100 
Rui Amaral 0 643,000 643,000 
Katarzyna Kopaczewska 0 164,000 164,000 
Arnaldo Guerreiro 0 483,000 483,000 
Pedro Martinho 0 323,000 323,000 
Ryszard Majer 0 164,000 164,000 

 
Supervisory Board members 

Geoffrey Francis Eric Crossley 0 0 0 
Eduardo Aguinaga de Mores 0 0 0 
Joao Borges de Assuncao 0 0 0 
Ryszard Wojnowski 0 0 0 
Janusz Lisowski 0 0 0 
Antonio Jose Santos Silva Casanova 0 0 0 
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3.12 Shareholders holding more than 5% of the votes at the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
of Eurocash 

 31.12.2005 r. 31.03.2006 r. 
 

Shareholder 
Number of 

shares  
Share in 

share 
capital (%)

Number of 
votes

Share in 
total 

number of 
votes 

(%)

Number of 
shares 

Share in 
share 

capital (%) 

Number of 
votes 

Share in 
total 

number of 
votes 

 (%)

1. Luis Manuel Conceicao 
do Amaral 
(directly and indirectly 
through Politra B.V.) 

 
70,258,100 55 % 70,258,100 55 % 70,258,100

 
55 % 

 
70,258,100 55 %

2. American Life Insurance 
and Reinsurance Company 
(includes stake hold by AIG 
Otwarty Fundusz 
Emerytalny) 
 

7,341,781 5.75% 7,341,781 5.75% 5,275,757 4.13% 5,275,757 4.13%

3. J.P. Morgan Chase & Co 
(subsidiaries) 6,579,041 5.15% 6,579,041 5.15% 6,310,593 4.94% 6,310,593 4.94%

4. Charlemagne Capital 
(IOM) Limited n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 6,488,383 5.08% 6,488,383 5.08%

 

3.13 Agreements which could lead to changes in shareholding proportions in the future 
Apart of the employee shares option schemes described in section 3.15 below, Management Board 
of Eurocash has no information about any agreements which could lead to changes in shareholding 
proportions in the future 

 

3.14 Holders of all securities which grant special control rights in relation to the Issuer 
As long as Politra B.V., registered seat in Amsterdam, organized and operating under the Dutch law, 
or any of its legal successors, remains a shareholder holding 50% or more of the shares in the share 
capital of the Company, it shall have the right to appoint and remove 3 (three) members of the 
Supervisory Board of Eurocash. 

 

3.15 System for controlling employee share option schemes 
On the basis of the Resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting number 3 dated 14 September 
2004 with regard to the issue of priority rights bonds, conditional increase of the share capital and 
exclusion of pre-emptive rights of current shareholders of the Company, with the amendments 
approved by Resolution no 2 dated 2 November 2004 and Resolution no 1 dated 25 November 
2004, a decision concerning issue of Series B and Series C shares within the Motivational Program 
for the management, executives and persons with significant meaning to the operations of Eurocash 
S.A. 
 
The Company will issue registered bonds of the total number of 255,484 in the two following series: 
- 127,742 Series A registered bonds of a nominal value of 1 grosz each, with the right to subscribe 

ordinary bearer series B shares with the priority right before the current shareholders of the 
Company, and   
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- 127,742 Series B registered bonds of a nominal value of 1 grosz each, with the right to subscribe 
ordinary bearer series C shares with the priority right before the current shareholders of the 
Company.  

 
The bonds are no-interest bonds. The issue price will be equaled to the nominal value of the bonds. 
One Series A bond gives the priority right to subscribe for and acquire 25 series B shares. 
One Series B bond gives the priority right to subscribe for and acquire 25 series C shares. 
 
The Company valued the Motivational Program for the Series A bonds for PLN 1.921 mln. This 
amount will be amortised commencing from 1st January 2005 for the period of 3 years. 
 
The share options included in the series B bonds will be valued as of 1st January 2006 and will be 
amortised also for a period of 3 years. 

 

3.16 Limitations on the transfer of ownership rights to the Issuer’s securities and limitations 
on exercising the voting rights carried by the Issuer’s shares  

 
Eurocash corporate documents do not contain any provisions which would limit the transfer of rights 
to the Company’s shares. 
 
Each Eurocash share carries one vote at the General Shareholders Meeting. There are no limitations 
on exercising the voting rights from the Company’s shares. 

 

3.17 Information on the registered audit company  
 
The financial statements of Eurocash and for 2005 were audited by HLB Frąckowiak i Wspólnicy  
Sp. z o.o. on the basis of a contract concluded on 31 May, 2005. 
The total fees specified in the contract with the registered audit company, payable or paid for the 
audit and review of the financial statements and for other services are presented below: 
 

PLN tsd 2005 2004 
Audit of stand-alone financial statements  38.6 45.0 
Review of stand-alone financial statements  27.4 66.0 
Other services  4.5 10.0 
Total 70.5 121.0 
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4 Representations of the Management Board 

4.1 Accuracy and reliability of the reports presented 
The members of the Management Board of Eurocash S.A. represent that, according to their best 
knowledge: 
- the stand-alone annual financial statements and comparable data have been drawn up in 

accordance with the applicable accounting principles and give a true and fair view of the economic 
and financial position of Eurocash S.A. and of the results of its operations, 

- the report of the Management Board on the business activities of Eurocash S.A. in 2005 contains 
a true views of the development, achievements and position of Eurocash S.A., including a 
description of main risks and threats. 

 

4.2 Appointment of the entity qualified to audit financial statements 
 
The members of the Management Board of Eurocash S.A. represent that, HLB Frąckowiak i 
Wspólnicy Sp. z o.o., the entity qualified to audit financial statements, which audited the annual 
financial statements of Eurocash S.A., has been appointed in compliance with the applicable laws and 
regulations. The entity and the auditors have met the prerequisites for giving an impartial and 
independent opinion on the audit in accordance with the applicable provisions of the law. 
 
 
 

 
Signatures of the Management Board Members 
 

Position Name and surname Date Signature 

President Luis Amaral  4th April 2006  

Management Board Member 
Chief Executive Officer Rui Amaral 4th April 2006  

Management Board Member 
Financial Executive Officer Arnaldo Guerreiro 4th April 2006  

Management Board Member 
Sales Director Pedro Martinho 4th April 2006  

Management Board Member 
Human Resources Director 

Katarzyna 
Kopaczewska 4th April 2006  

Management Board Member 
IT Director Ryszard Majer 4th April 2006  

 
 


